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In 2003, the Pool completed the final steps of its
comprehensive restructuring plan, clearing the path
for future success. To support this “new start” we
have identified FOUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES that
will guide the organization in the coming years and

generate value for Pool stakeholders.

| 1. OFTIMIZING OUR FOGTRRINT

The Pool will continue to align its assets with changing market
conditions. Our goal is to anticipate change and proactively
adjust our business processes so that we generate the greatest
economic value from our western Canadian footprint.

@; mmm TORAL ECELLENGE

Our pipeline business model is designed to generate value at
each stage of the agri-business process. We will test and refine
our processes at every stage and strengthen our relationships
with customers and suppliers to create mutual value. We will
build confidence among our stakehoiders by benchmarking,
targeting, tracking and communicating our operational
excellence initiatives.

L 2. CUSTOWER SOLUTIONS

TRT I QF e NS
The needs of western Canadian producers have changed.
The Pool will build on its customer contact strategies by 1 Letter to Shareholders
developing customized producer profiles and new marketing 2 Management's Discussion & Analysis

strategies, specific to the customers’ unique needs and aligned

with the company’s competitive strengths. 10 Selected Financial Information

Our end-use customers will receive the same commitment. We 24 Auditors’ Report

will build on our quality assurance programs, customizing supply 24 Management's Responsibility
agreements and identity preservation programs to solidify

long-term relationships in the international marketplace. 25 Consolidated Financial Statements

28 Notes to the Financial Statements

eou NTY 2 |
& WY @ P gﬁi ( 45 Corporate Governance
T o - T 48 Senior Officers
The knowledge and commitment of our people is at the heart 49 Shareholder and Investor Information

of the Pool’s success. We will encourage leadership through
empowerment, training and retention initiatives that reward
our top performers. We will implement training programs for
front-line staff to help them allocate resources based on the
value that can be realized from each customer and coach
them to deliver innavative, customer-specific solutions,




TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

The past year has been an extremely challenging yet rewarding one for Saskatchewan Wheat Pool.
In March, we completed a financial restructuring with our banks and bondholders that provided the
company with funding to implement its future business plan and effectively exchanged $255 million
of debt for equity.

The restructuring was the final step in the Pool’s drive to become the most efficient agri-business

in Western Canada. With our state-of-the-art grain handling system and extensive agri-products
marketing network, the Pool is well situated to capitalize on a return to more normal growing
conditions. We have brought our costs down, streamlined our operations and refocused the company
QN our core businesses.

None of it was easy, but the end result is a genuine feeling of renewal at the Pool — from the Board
of Directors through senior management to the staff at our country locations. Our black bottom line
in the fourth quarter is just as exciting. It illustrates that the work we've done to get our company in
order has paid off, It reinforces what we have been telling investors, customers and the public — the
Pool can and will be profitable in a normal environment.

In the coming vear, we will continue on the course we have set, holding the line on costs, developing
innovative customer solutions, evaluating our operations and striving for excellence in all that we do.
We remain committed to quality, service and adding value every step of the way.

We invite you now to take a few moments to review our Management’s Discussion and Analysis
to gain a better understanding of the Pool, our business environment and our capabilities to
deliver results.

i - S A X Y

Mayo Schmidt Marvin Wiens
Chief Executive Officer President and Chairman of the Board



MANA@EMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2003

HOW TO USE THIS MD&A

The Pool completed a financial restructuring on March 14, 2003. As a result, the company
has accounted for the reorganization by using the principles of comprehensive revaluation.
This revaluation, known as “fresh start accounting,” limits the comparability of the Pool’s
current financial results to those of prior periods. Additionally, management has prepared
its discussion in the context of its industry, market environment, financial performance,
priorities, opportunities and risks for the future.

FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING

On October 24, 2002, following two and a half years of proionged drought on the Prairies
that severely restricted cash flow, Saskatchewan Wheat Pool announced its intention to
develop a consensual restructuring plan with its banks and medium term noteholders.

The process was effectively finalized on February 4, 2003, and completed in March of
2003 with the exchange of $405 million in senior secured debt for $150 million of senior
subordinated notes, $255 million of convertible subordinated notes and 22,938,037 Class
B non-voting shares. Additional information is contained in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FRESH START ACCOUNTING

The restructuring has been accounted for using the principles of comprehensive revaluation
(fresh start accounting) as required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). As
a result of the financial restructuring, the Pool became a new reporting entity with a new
opening balance sheet effective January 31, 2003.

The balance sheet is presented on a post-restructuring basis as at January 31, 2003,

and July 31, 2003. Balance sheets for prior periods are not comparable because they were
prepared on a historical cost basis. Specifically, a revaluation was made of the company’s
debt and equity components based on market values at the time of the revaluation with
corresponding adjustments made to asset values. Readers may refer to Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for a complete description of the revaluation.

The company’s statements of earnings and cash flows include the financial results for
the six months ended January 31, 2003, prior to the restructuring, along with the six
months ended July 31, 2003, post-restructuring, using the principles of fresh start
accounting. The cumulative total of these two reporting periods are not comparable

to the 12 months ended July 31, 2002, because of the 2003 reorganization and
subseguent comprehensive revaluation.




COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Pool is an integrated and diversified company engaged in four distinct but interrelated
agri-businesses. It is the largest publicly traded agri-business in the province of
Saskatchewan and the second largest in Western Canada.

The company's core businesses are grain handling and marketing and agri-products sales.
The Pool also participates in agri-food processing and livestock production through wholly
owned and affiliated companies and through strategic alliances and supply agreements.

BUSINESS MODEL

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool’s business model is designed to optimize its position in the
agri-food pipeline by connecting producers and their commodities with destination customers
around the world, generating revenue at each stage of its value-added pipeline.

The pipeline begins with the producer. The Pool works with its producer customers to provide
specialized varieties of grains and oilseeds, along with fertilizer, crop inputs and agronomic
services, in an effort to support high-quality, high-yielding commodities demanded in the
international marketplace. Through production contracts, trucking premiums and targeted
marketing programs, the Pool attracts grain into its high throughput grain handling network
where the product is cleaned, dried and blended before it is sold to the domestic or export
market. The Pool, through commodity specialists, markets its inventories to end-use
customers, shipping the product by truck or rail to domestic users or to export positions. For
the international marketplace, the product primarily moves through a port terminal facility to
the end user where it is further processed into food and other agriculturally based products.

GRAIN HANDLING AND MARKETING

The Pool’s grain handiing and marketing operations consist of 43 high throughput grain
handling and marketing terminals and 11 seed cleaning and specialty plants strategically
located in the prime agricultural growing regions of Western Canada, two wholly owned port
terminal export facilities located in Vancouver, British Columbia, and Thunder Bay, Ontario,
and an ownership interest in an export facility in Prince Rupert, British Columbia.

“AGRI-PRODUCTS

The Pool’s Agri-products segment consists of 100 retail locations throughout Western
Canada, including its grain handling and marketing facilities, through which the Pool sells
seed, fertilizer and crop protection products. The Agri-products segment also includes a
research and development center located at the University of Saskatchewan, the company’s
share of jointly owned affiliate Western Co-operative Fertilizers (WCFL), a fertilizer wholesaler
located in Calgary, Alberta, and the Pool’s interest in Interprovincial Co-operative Limited
(IPCO), a chemical formulation plant in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Through its strategic alliances
with Farm Credit Canada and John Deere Credit, the Poo! also offers agri-products financing
to Prairie producers.



AGRI-FOOD PROCESSING

The Pool’s significant interests in agri-food processing include wholly owned Can-Oat Milling,
the world's largest industrial oat miller, with approximately 40% of the capacity within its
primary competitor group; and 42% owned Prairie Malt Limited, one of North America's
largest single-site malting plants.

OTHER

Through its interest in the Heartland Group of Companies, the Pool is involved in hog
production and marketing. The Pool wholly owns three hog production facilities and holds
majority interests in four other facilities, all located in Saskatchewan. The Pool also operates
a feed mill at North Battieford and an aguacuiture operation at Lake Diefenbaker, both
located in Saskatchewan.

MARKET ENVIRONMERNT

GRAINS AND OILSEEDS

Western Canada typically produces about 53 million tonnes of grains and oilseeds annually,
of which 63%, or 33 million tonnes, is available to licensed grain handlers. During the past
two growing seasons, drought hit the Prairies, severely affecting the quantity and quality of
commadities available to market participants in the following fiscal years.

For fiscal 2003, the crop production of 29 million tonnes was 45% below the five-year
average because of the drought. Initial production estimates from this year’'s harvest suggest
production for fiscal 2004 will rise to approximately 45 million tonnes in Western Canada,
85% of the five-year average, despite heat stress in the month of August and above average
grasshopper populations. Based on these numbers, the Pool believes that approximately

26 million tonnes will be available to licensed grain handlers in fiscal 2004. Final production
estimates will be available from Statistics Canada in December 2003.

From an export perspective, the Canadian Wheat Board (CWB) is the sole exporter of western
Canadian wheat and barley (Board grains). The Poo! also buys and markets for its own
account, non-Board grains such as canola, oats, peas and mustard.

Exports in 2003 declined to historic lows of 12.6 miilion tonnes, just 50% of the five-year
average, reflecting volume declines, poor quality and a significantly reduced Canadian Wheat
Board export program. The Pool expects exports in fiscal 2004 to rebound to approximately
88% of the five-year average. Higher quality from this year’'s harvest, coupled with increased
demand in the international export market due to a poor European crop, is expected to
partially offset the impact of production declines and the corresponding impact on earnings.

Western Canadian Production Canadian Exports Excluding Products
(millions ofimetric tonnes) (millions of metric tonnes)
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Acreage - Western Canada . )
(thousands of acres) drove crop input volumes and values higher. However, seeded acres for

AGRI-PRODUCTS MARKET

The agri-products industry in Western Canada is a mature market, It is made up of
approximately 250 competitors servicing 1,000 locations throughout Western Canada.
Independent retailers, who hold approximately 30% of the market, togethef with a host of major
grain handlers, sell seed, fertilizer, crop protection products and smali agricuitural equipment.

Over the past decade, there has been a shift in crop mix with less cereal
grain and more canola, oilseeds and special crops being grown. The increase

these crops peaked in 1995 and there has been no significant growth since

All Wheat R
that time.

) Gosrse Brains Given stable production acreage and stable volumes of crop inputs applied

— sectalcrops PET A@Cre, the opportunity for revenue growth in the industry will come largely
from price increases and cropping pattern shifts.

0
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Source: Statistics Canada
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The seeded acreage of crops varies from year to year, based largely on price
forecasts and input costs. Currently, the only long-term trend affecting seeded
acreage is a steady increase in special crops (peas, lentils, mustard and
canary seed) from 1.5 million acres in 1290-91 to 6.5 million acres in 2004. This growth may
have reached its peak as Canada now has 50% of world exports in many of these crops.

The number of producers has decreased steadily and the average number of acres farmed,
including owned and leased land, has grown to 1,600, meaning fewer customers with greater
leverage. As a result, price, availability, information and service are the key sales drivers in
this business.

The total market is approximately $2.7 billion in sales, geographically distributed as

follows: Saskatchewan, $1.2 billion; Alberta, $0.9 billion; and Manitoba, $0.6 billion

(Source: Statistics Canada, May 2003 Farm Operating Expenses & Depreciation Charges).

The Pool competes in 17 market centers with an effective market coverage of approximately
$1.8 billion. Low crop prices and poor growing conditions put pressure on volumes and margins
from time to time, but in general, the industry has historically supported retail

gross margins in the 15% range.

The industry is highly dependent on weather conditions and commodity prices. if poor growing
conditions are anticipated due to drought or if commodity prices decline significantly, producers
cannot justify the cost of inputs in terms of a return on investment and sales can suffer,

The industry is also highly seasonal with more than 75% of seed, fertilizer and crop protection
products sold and delivered from mid-April to the end of June. This means that capacity is
fully utilized during this period and underutilized the remainder of the year. This shortterm
high-level sales period requires strong logistical support to ensure timely deliveries that meet
customer demands.

The fall season from August to November represents about 15% of the business. This
market is aiso extremely dependent on the weather as early frost and snowfall can bring the
season to a halt. A strong fall application period can relieve some of the spring logistical
requirements because fertilizer will not be reapplied in the spring, while other products such
as herbicides will be applied again in the spring.




QAT PROCESSING (Sources: Statistics Canada, Can-Oat Milling)

Canada is the second largest oat producer and largest oat and oat product exporter,
representing 48% of the world oat export trade. Total world production of 25.6 million tonnes
includes both feed and human consumption oat production. Canadian oat production represents
approximately 13% of this total and over the past 15 years, the industry has seen strong
growth in North American milling demand. As a result, the percentage of total oat production
that is utilized for food and industrial purposes has increased. Approximately 25% to 30% of
the annual crop is milling quality, while the rest is utilized as feed. Canada consumes less
than 50% of its production and exports the remainder.

) Demand for oat ingredients continues to be heavily concentrated in the
Gezfgg:;;?;l?g:g:;"" hot and cold cereal and snack bar markets. Health concerns in the North
Human 0Oat Products Exports American population have had a dramatic impact on the sale of oat
products. In 1997, the Food and Drug Administration in the United States
approved a health claim for oat-based products proclaiming that the
soluble fibre from ocatmeal, as part of a low-saturated fat, low-cholesterol
diet, may reduce the risk of heart disease. This official acceptance has
heightened consumer interest in oat-based foods.

There are four types of oat processors in the North American
Quebec 1% Ontario/BC 2% marketplace — brand managers, industrial finished ingredient suppliers,
industrial primary ingredient suppliers and feed mills. Can-Oat Milling is
an industrial finished ingredients supplier that supplies high-quality, high-value oat ingredients
to consumer products companies for further processing.

HOG PRODUCTION

Pork is the most popular meat in the global marketplace, representing approximately 40%
of total meat consumption. In 2002, 85 million tonnes of pork was produced and consumed
worldwide (Source: USDA — October, 2003). The industry is forecast to grow to 104 million
tonnes by 2012, which translates into a growth rate of 1.9% per year (Source: FAPRI, 2003
Baseline). The majority of growth will occur in China, which is expected to produce 50% of
the world's production by that time. However, 100% of that country’s pork is consumed
domestically, and many believe that China may become a significant pork importer over

the longer term due to increasing demands for high-protein food.

Canada processes approximately 1.8 million tonnes of pork annually. Quebec and Ontario
dominate the industry with 57% while Saskatchewan accounts for approximately 9%.

The Prairies offer many competitive advantages in terms of hog production. The expansive
land base is relatively low cost, and traditionally colder climates help minimize disease,
reduce heat stress and maintain high feed conversion ratios. Western Canadian producers
also have access 10 quality low-cost feed grains and strong demand from packers due to
underutilized newer processing capacity in the system.

The market price of Canadian hogs is tied directly to the Midwest USA price, set by American
packers who are driven by supply and demand at the retail level.

Low-cost production is a key success factor, and, accordingly, achieving economies of
scale is @ critical component in minimizing the fixed-cost component of each hog produced.
Efficiency can also be improved through husbandry practices, nutritional practices and




health protocols. Success is dependent on farrowing rates, mortality rates and feed
conversion ratios.

POOL PRIQRITIES

With the financial restructuring complete, Saskatchewan Wheat Pool has developed key
priorities intended to drive its strategic direction and re-position the Pool as a leader in
the industry.

*The Pool has already responded to deregulation, rail line abandonment and other industry
shifts with an aggressive rationalization program. We will continue to assess all businesses
to determine the optimum operating structure. We recognize that while the Pool’s new '
financial structure gives us a new start, it is critical that we size our operations so that we
can operate with flexibility within our financial limits. We will continue to assess geographic
representation and product line offerings and identify new competitive opportunities to
optimize our footprint. These opportunities must have a strategic fit with our corporate
priorities. In many cases, these strategic initiatives will be supply agreements, partnerships
or joint ventures with other companies, where there are opportunities to capture synergy,
share expertise, minimize risk and grow our business. Our relationships with food processors,
international trading partners and others are also critical to our ability to earn revenues along
the value chain, particularly for non-Board grains that are not consumed domestically.

“With the number of western Canadian family farms on the decline, farm operations are much
larger and customer needs have changed. The Pool intends to build on the customer contact
strategies implemented in 2001 by developing customized producer profiles and new
marketing strategies that are specific to the customers’ unigue needs and are aligned with
the company’s competitive strengths. We will implement training programs for front-line staff
to enhance their customer service skills and to encourage long-term customer relationships.
We will help them allocate resources based on the value that can be realized from each
customer and coach them to deliver innovative, customer-specific solutions.

As the industry continues its rationalization and consolidation, we will sharpen our focus on
operational excellence as the driving principle within the company. There is little or no product
differentiation among competitors so competing effectively in this environment is largely
dependent on price and service. To that end, the Pool has undergone an extensive cost
reduction program over the past three years that has eliminated approximately $80 million

in operating costs.

CAPABILITY 7O DELIVER RESULYS

The Pool's ability to achieve success in the western Canadian agricultural industry is
dependent upon a number of factors. Rationalization and consolidation of smaller inefficient
facilities remains a key focus for the industry given the significant over-capacity that remains
in the system. The Pool moved quickly to respond to this chalienge and over the past three
years has reduced its own capacity from 2.1 million tonnes to 1.2 million tonnes. Other
competitors have also closed excess capacity, however, more rationalization must take place
by competitors to improve the turnover ratios and efficiency within the entire system.

Velocity has also become a key driver in the Pool business model - that is the ability to move

volume through its primary grain handling network quickly and efficiently while maintaining
quality specifications. The Pool has more than 40% of the 100-car loading capacity in the



industry, well ahead of the 18% held by its closest competitor. This is important because rail
companies, which are responsible for moving the grain to export position, offer grain handling
companies incentives for loading product onto muiti-car unit trains. The Pool shares these
incentives. with producers to lower their costs while attracting the grain into its system, in an
effort to increase market share.

Transportation and logistics are key to managing the pipeline to maximize earnings. In fiscal
2003, the Pool shipped 93% of its graih and oilseeds in 25-, 50- and 100-car loads, with
74% loaded in 50s and 100s even though total shipments were down dramatically due to
drought. Effective August 1, 2003, the railways amended their incentive programs as follows:

CP: 25-car loads - $0.50 per tonne (previously $1.00 per tonne)
50-car foads - $4.00 per tonne (no change)
100-car loads - $7.00 per tonne (previously $6.00 per tonne)
shuttle trains* - $7.00 to $8.50 per tonne (previously $6.50 per tonne)

CN: 25-car loads - $0.00 per tonne (previously $1.00 per tonne)
50-car loads - $4.00 per tonne (no change)
100-car loads - $6.00 per tonne (no change)
shuttle trains* - $7.00 per tonne (previously $6.50 per tonne)

* A shuttle train is a dedicated train of 100 cars or more that is loaded at one facility, moved to export position,
unloaded in 24 hours and returned to the next point of origin. Grain companies commit to a fixed number of trips
in order to maximize the shuttle train incentive,

The ability to fully capitalize on the efficiencies and economies of scale within the western
Canadian grain handling system remains dependent upon the regulatory environment.
Regulation exists in many facets of the business, despite attempts by the industry to
encourage deregulation over the past five years.

The amount of revenue generated by railway companies through the grain handling system is
regulated. The Canadian Wheat Board also plays a significant role in the grain transportation
system, due to its monopoly over the export of western Canadian cereal grains.

The role of the CWB in grain transportation has been steadily evolving. In an effort to move
to a more deregulated commercial environment, the CWB and the industry agreed in 2001
to a tendering process whereby not less than 25% of total business volumes from the CWB
in 2001 and 2002 and not less than 50% in 2003 would be put to tender. Grain companies
bid on the right to supply the grain and, if awarded the tender, receive railcar supply outside
the regular CWB allocation process.

Tendering was limited in 2001, as most of the larger grain companies did not participate,
awaiting further clarification of the rules. In 2002 and 2003, despite two years of back-to-
back drought, tendering was successful in improving system efficiency. According to the CWB,
the cost savings enjoyed by Prairie producers resulting from tendering and related processes
such as freight and terminal rebates and performance penalties in 2002 and the first nine
months of 2003 totalled $61.5 million.

On August 7, 2003, the CWB made the decision to change its tendering program because

of complaints by a number of smaller players who were having difficulty competing in the
more commercialized environment. A new policy was implemented the week of October 19,
2003, reducing the tendered portion of the CWB program to 20% for fiscal 2004. The
remaining 80% will revert back to an allocation formula, based on a grain company’'s previous
18-week producer deliveries. Approximately one-quarter of the railcars in the allocation will be
awarded two weeks in advance to allow companies 10 more accurately plan their shipments.




The Pool believes the program changes do not encourage long-term system efficiency and
will reduce the ability of grain companies to maximize their multi-car loading systems, thereby
reducing the savings available to producers through rait incentives. However, the extent of
the impact on the industry is yet to be fully measured. The Pool believes market share will
begin to mirror a company’s storage capacity, with gains being achieved at a slower rate

and primarily through system consolidation. For fiscal 2004, the Pool expects Prairie market
share in the range of 22% to 24%.

With respect to the company’s agri-products operation, the Pool is involved at various
levels of the value chain in the fertilizer business through its ownership interest in WCFL,
and in the seed business beginning with seed research and development through to sales.
In crop protection products, the Pool is involved through IPCO, a chemical formulation
plant located in Manitoba, as well as at the retail level. The Pool’'s market coverage is
extensive. Approximately 90% of the Pool’s customers are iocated within 30 to 40 miles
of a Pool facility.

Its interest in WCFL provides the Pool with supplies of low-cost fertilizers sourced from
WCFL's 34% ownership interest in Canadian Fertilizers Limited, a fertilizer manufacturer.
In addition, the Pool receives patronage dividends each year from WCFL based on the
amount of fertilizer it purchases through that company.

Crop mix is an important driver in the agri-products industry as crops like wheat and bariey
require substantially fewer crop inputs than special crops and canola. For example, producers
invest approximately $60 per acre on a canola crop, which includes the seed that they typically
purchase each year. For wheat, approximately $20 per acre is invested, and for certain
varieties, the wheat can be re-seeded from the previous year’s harvest. The amount of
agri-products the Pool sells is therefore dependent upon seeding intentions and the company
must be flexible and timely in the purchase of its products for the heavy spring selling season.

Fertilizer pricing is also a business driver for agri-products operators. Natural gas is an
important component of fertilizer and as its price fluctuates so do fertilizer prices. Producers’
buying behaviour, both in terms of timing and quantity, will change depending on pricing. As

a result, companies must monitor pricing to secure fertilizer at the right time and be flexible
with supply to ensure the demand will be met during the application period.

The agri-products business requires substantial working capital. Over the past three years,
the Pool has focused on reducing its working capital requirements in this business. The first
major initiative involved the outsourcing of agri-products financing provided to producers, to
Farm Credit Canada. This eliminated Pool financing, which ranged between $100 million and
$200 million per year. At the same time, it provided producers with lower-cost, longer-term,
financing to support their on-farm cash management strategies. Since 2001, the Pool has
also reduced its net-owned agri-products inventory by 65% by eliminating a number of
product lines and by selling and exiting product lines with lower turnover rates. This has
allowed and will continue to allow our agri-products sales force to focus on products that
generate higher returns. '

Barriers to entry into the agri-products market are low. A significant number of smaller
independent retailers already enjoy the largest share of the market. Customer service
strategies that allow the Pool to bundle its seed, fertilizer and crop protection products
with its financing and agronomic services will be key to retaining and growing market share
in the future. '




SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ANNUAL:

Pre-reorganization**
(in thousands)
SIX MONTHS SIX MONTHS TWELVE MONTHS
ENDED ENDED ENDED
JULY 31, 2003 JANUARY 31, 2003 JULY 31, 2002
(restated) (restated)
GROSS BILLINGS
Grain sales and service revenue $ 255,967 $ 496,805 $ 917240
Sales and service revenue - other segments 427,700 217,725 1,086,291
Sales and service revenues 683,667 714,530 2,003,531
Canadian Wheat Board gross billings 264,181 255,717 777,875
$ 947848 $ 970,247 $ 2,781,406
Sales and setvice revenues $ 683,667 $ 714,530 $ 2,003,531
Canadian Wheat Board tariffs 14,279 16,668 50,149
Sales and other operating revenues 697,946 731,198 2,053,680
Cost of sales|and operating expenses (653,124) (710,069) (1,904,342)
Selling and administrative expenses (27,204) (24,519) (76,526)
Non-controlling interest recovery 53 1,233 867
Earnings befare interest, securitization,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 17,671 (2,157) 73,679
Amortization (12,573) (25,793) . (70,937)
Loss on disposals and provisions - - (71,966)
Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes 5,098 (27,950) (69,224)
interest expense (23,807) (23,650) (57,761)
Securitization: expense - (3,016) (7,796)
Loss before corporate taxes (18,709) (54,616) (134,781)
Recovery of corporate taxes 2,800 20,180 42,622
Net loss $ (15,909) $ (34,436) $  (92,159)
Cash flow from {used in) operations $ 1,856 $ (26,404) $  (3,326)
SALES AND OTHER OPERATING REVENUES BY SEGMENT
Grain Handlirig and Marketing $ 283,737 $ 530,392 $ 1,015,597
Agri-products 319,347 123,198 435,938
Agri-food Processing 64,495 65,142 545,010
Other 45177 30,460 107,797
Inter-segment sales (14,810) (17,994) (50,662)
Per financial statements $ 697,946 $ 731,198 $ 2,053,680
EBITDA BY SEGMENT
Grain Handling and Marketing $ (6,393) $ 7169 $ 27,655
Agri-products. 29,423 (5,926) 21,827
Agri-food Processing 8,926 6,327 35,376
Other (5,312) (1,873) 4,449
26,644 5,697 89,307
Corporate expenses (8,973) (7,854) (15,628)
Per financial statements $ 17,671 $ (2,157) $ 73,679
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QUARTERLY:

Pre-reorganization** . Post-reorganization
OCTOBER 31 JANUARY 31 APRIL 30 : JULY 31

Fiscal 2003 (restated except July 31, 2003) i
Gross billings $469,523 $500,724 $310,042 . $ 637,806
Sales and service revenues 322,535 391,995 216,136 467,531
Canadian Wheat Board tariffs 10,339 6,329 5,039 9,240
Sales and other operating revenues 332,874 398,324 221,175 ¢ 476,771
EBITDA 1,156 (3,313) (7,751)1 25,422
EBIT (11,762) (16,188) (14,406); 19,504
Net earnings (10ss) (15,618) (18,818) (30,452). 14,543
Net earnings (loss) per share * $  (0.42) $ (0.50) $  (0.56), $  0.07

Pre-reorganization* *

Fiscal 2002 (restated) ;
Gross billings $ 673,398 $ 774,040 $549,701 f $784,267
Sales and service revenues 466,643 567,313 383,405 | 586,170
Canadian Wheat Board tariffs 13,883 13,923 10,377 11,966
Sales and other operating revenues 480,526 581,236 393,782 ¢ 598,136
EBITDA 16,998 17,679 2,682 36,320
EBIT before provisions (762) (1,114) (14,676) 19,294
EBIT 4,521 (23,837) (6,958). (42,950)
Earnings (loss) before provisions (15,651) (12,816) (18,690) 5,098

Earnings (loss) per share :
before provisions (0.42) {0.34) (0.50) 0.14
Net earnings (loss) (12,394) (25,974) (12,696} (41,095)
Net earnings {loss) per share * $  (0.33) $ (0.69) $  (1.10)

Notes: * Diluted earnings per share would be anti-dilutive.

$  (0.34)

** Pre-reorganization refers to the consolidated financial information prior to the financial restructuring of the
company, and the subsequent revaluation of the company’s assets, liabilities and equity.

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Because of the Pool’s recent restructuring and the revaluation that was completed effective
January 31, 2003, financial statements for prior periods are not comparable. Sales and
EBITDA remain comparable on a 12-month basis; however, the remaining income statement
items such as depreciation, interest and earnings are not comparable because of the
comprehensive revaluation of assets, liabilities and equity.

PRESENTATION OF SALES AND OTHER OPERATING REVENUES

In fiscal 2003, the Pool adopted a new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA)
standard regarding recognition of revenue. This standard applies to the company’s and the
industry’s handling of grains on behalf of the CWB. As a result, the Pool’s sales and other

operating revenue no longer reflect CWB gross billings. For CWB grains, the income
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statement will reflect the tariffs that are received by the Pool on those purchases. For non-
Board grains, the gross value of those grains and oilseeds will remain in the Sales and Other
Operating Revenues category. The change also results in the classification of those amounts
due from the CWB as accounts receivable as opposed to recording CWB grain as inventory,
which was the previous practice. It is important to note that this change in accounting policy
has no impact on the earnings or retained earnings of the company. The net effect of this
change on sales is as follows:

Gross Billings

(in millions) FISCAL 2003 FISCAL 2002
Grain sales and service revenue $ 752.8 $ 9172
Sales and service revenue - other segments 645.4 1,086.3

Sales and service revenues 1,398.2 2,003.5
CWB gross billings (now excluded) 519.9 7779
Gross hillings $1,918.1 $2,781.4

Sales and other operating revenues
Sales and service revenues $1,398.2 $2,003.5
Canadian Wheat Board tariffs 30.9 50.2

Total sales and other operating revenues $1,429.1 $2,053.7

Sales and other operating revenues of $1.4 billion are down from the previous year by

$625 million. Approximately 70% of the variance relates to sales recorded in the 2002 fiscal
year from companies that were sold in that year. The remainder relates to the impact of
drought on grain handling volumes and on the quality of commodities available for export.

Partially offsetting the decline were sales increases from the Pool’s Agri-products segment.
Renewed moisture in the spring of 2003 drove spring fertilizer sales, while heightened
grasshopper populations increased demand for crop protection products. The Agri-food
Processing segment also realized sales growth due to Can-Oat’s continued commitment

to securing supply agreements with key food processors.

Selling and administrative expenses for fiscal 2003 were $51.7 million, down from

$76.5 million in 2002. This primarily reflects the sale of certain businesses in 2002

as well as the Pool’s continued commitment to managing its core operating costs through
the last two years of drought.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, were $15.5 million
for fiscal 2003, which includes an $11 million grain insurance recovery and compares to
$73.7 million in 2002. Approximately $13 million or 22% of the variance against 2002
relates to companies that were sold in that year. The remainder is attributable to weather
that cut western Canadian production by 45% and dramatically reduced industry shipments,
combined with low pork prices in fiscal 2003 that negatively affected Heartland Pork results.

Interest and securitization expense of $65.6 million in fiscal 2002 included $45.7 million in
interest costs associated with the Pool’s consolidated operating lines, term bank debt and
$300 million in medium term notes, $7.8 million in securitization expenses and $12.1 million
in deferred financing costs. For the six months ending January 31, 2003, prior to the
restructuring, the Pool’s interest and securitization costs related to this debt structure
totalled $21.1 million with an additional $5.6 million in non-cash deferred financing costs.




Post restructuring, cash interest costs will decline considerably reflecting the new capital
structure that was established effective January 31, 2003. Interest costs for the last

six months of fiscal 2003 related to the financing provided by the Pool’s bankers and

senior subordinated noteholders, were $23.8 million. This included $18.1 million in cash
interest and non-cash interest of $5.7 million associated with the accretion of the senior
subordinated notes and the debt component of the convertible subordinated notes. (Accretion
is the accounting concept where discounted financial statement balances are increased on

a systematic basis to eventually equal their face values at maturity.) Deferred financing costs
were eliminated as a result of the revaluation process.

Depreciation and amortization of $70.9 million in fiscal 2002 and $25.8 million in the first
six months of fiscal 2003 reflect the pre-restructuring asset values on the balance sheet.
For the last six months of 2003, amortization was $12.6 million primarily reflecting the
amortization associated with the fair value of property, plant and equipment determined on
January 31, 2003 - the fresh start application. In fiscal 2004, the company expects annual
charges of approximately half the historical pre-restructuring levels.

Earnings before interest and taxes, or EBIT, for the 12 months ended July 31, 2002, were
$2.7 million, prior to losses on disposals, organizational restructuring and other provisions.
For the first six months of fiscal 2003, prior to the financial restructuring, EBIT was a loss of
$28.0 million. For the last six months of fiscal 2003, the company recorded positive EBIT of
$5.1 million. "

For fiscal 2002, the Pool’s loss prior to disposals and other provisions was $42.1 million and
the consolidated net loss was $92.2 million or $2.46 per share. For the first six months of
fiscal 2003, the consolidated net loss was $34.4 million or $0.92 per share. For the last six
months of fiscal 2003, the consolidated net loss was $15.9 million or $0.27 per share. The
calculation of earnings per share for the last six months of 2003 includes the net loss of $15.9
million and the $11.5 million related to the accretion of the equity component of the convertible
subordinated notes and a weighted average number of Class B shares of 99.9 million.

.SEGMENT RESULTS

GRAIN HANDLING AND MARKETING

The Pool’s Grain Handling and Marketing segment shipped 4.8 million tonnes of grains and
oilseeds in fiscal 2003, down 35% from the previous year. This was a direct result of the
2002 drought that slashed western Canadian production by 45%.

While the Pool’s share of producer deliveries in Saskatchewan grew by one market share
point during the year, the company’s overall western Canadian market share finished the year
at 21.1% compared to 22.8% last year. The decline reflects reductions in Saskatchewan’s
and Alberta’s share of total production and marketings compared to non-drought areas of
Manitoba where the Pool’s presence is less pronounced.

Annual Volumes to July 31 ‘
{thousands of tonnes) FISCAL 2003 FISCAL 2002 INCREASE/(DECREASE)

Primary elevator shipments 4,760 7,316 -35%
Terminal operations 1

Vancouver 822 2,155 62%
Thunder Bay ) 1,185 1,232 : -4%
Share of affiliates 424 611 -31%
Total terminal operations 2,431 3,998 -39%
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Industry exports for the year totalled 12.6 million tonnes, down 41% from the previous year,
and less than half the level achieved in 2001. Port terminal receipts were down 42% for the
industry, 59% through Vancouver. The temporary closure of that port last fall, along with
decreased CWB grain shipments from West Coast draw areas, were the primary factors

in the 62% decline in receipts at the Pool’s Vancouver terminal.

EBITDA from this segment for fiscal 2003 was a loss of $1 mitlion compared to earnings of
$28 million in fiscal 2002. The variance was attributable to large volume declines and lower
margins resulting from poor crop quality. EBIT from this segment in 2002, prior to provisions
was a loss of $5.3 million reflecting the drought in that year. For the first six months of fiscal
2003, prior to restructuring, EBIT was a loss of $7.7 million, which included amortization of
$14.9 million. For the last six months of the year, EBIT was a loss of $11 million including
$4.6 million in amortization expense.

AGRI-PRODUCTS

Agri-products sales for the year grew by $7 mitlion to $443 million driven by a 17.6% increase
in fertilizer sales due to higher prices, partially offset by lower crop protection product sales
in the fall due to wet weather.

EBITDA for the full year was $23.5 million, which compares to $21.8 million in fiscal 2002.
The 2002 results included an additional $5.9 million of service charge revenue associated
with an in-house agri-products financing program that has since been outsourced. Excluding
those service charges, EBITDA grew 47% due to higher sales volumes in the final six months !
of the year resulting from an enhanced focus on new pricing strategies, customer solutions i
and margin improvements, particularly in fertilizer and seed. ‘

EBIT for the segment in fiscal 2002 was $10.2 million, prior to provisions. For the first six '
months of fiscal 2003, EBIT, after amortization of $3.7 million, was a loss of $9.6 million.

In the final six months of the year, the segment earned $25.0 million before interest and

taxes, a reflection of strong demand during the growing season for all major product lines.

Included in the final six-month period was $4.4 million in amortization. The increase in

amortization between the two six-month periods reflects the revaluation of assets.

AGRI-FOOD PROCESSING

The Agri-food Processing segment generated sales for the full year of $130 million versus
$128 million, after excluding the fiscal 2002 results of companies that were sold in that year.
The increase was driven by a 6% sales improvement at Can-Oat Milling, which more than
offset an 8% decline at Prairie Malt Limited.

EBITDA for the full year was $15.3 million, which compares to $23.1 million the previous
year, after excluding companies sold in 2002. Can-Oat’s performance remained relatively
strong while Prairie Malt experienced margin declines due to depleted supplies of quality malt
barley in Western Canada, which forced them to source raw commodities from other regions
to meet customer demands.

EBIT for the segment in 2002, prior to the loss on disposal, was $20.3 million. After
excluding icompanies that were sold in 2002, EBIT for the year would have been $15.8
million. In 2003, the Pool’s Agri-food Processing segment generated EBIT of $3.8 million




in the first six months and an additional $6.4 million in the final six months of the year. There
was no significant variance in amortization charges in the two periods.

OTHER

Sales for the entire segment in fiscal 2003 totalled $75.6 million, down from $107.8 million
with the decrease representing the sale of feed mills and a newspaper publishing company
in fiscal 2002. Heartland Pork marketed 360,000 hogs in fiscal 2003, down slightly from
370,000 last year.

The segment produced an EBITDA loss of $7 million for the full year, which compares

to earnings of $4 million last year. Segment EBIT in 2002 was a loss prior to disposal of
$5.3 million. In fiscal 2003, the segment had an EBIT loss of $6.3 million in the first six
months, which included $4.4 million in amortization. For the final six months, the loss was
$6.4 million, which included $1.1 million of amortization expense. The primary reason for
the poor results for this segment was a combination of extremely low hog prices and higher
feed costs that led to poor margins for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESCURCES

Fresh Start Accounting - Balance Sheet Adjustments

The company successfully completed the restructuring of its senior secured debt in the third
quarter. The financial reorganization has been accounted for using the principles of fresh
start accounting with an effective date of January 31, 2003. Under this treatment, the Pool
was required to adjust the value of its assets and liabilities to estimated fair values to reflect
the fair value of its equity.

Following is a summary of the long-term debt outstanding as refiected on the January 31,
2003, balance sheet:

Long-term debt: ‘
{in thousands) PRINCIPAL SANUARY 31, 2003

AMOUNT BALANCE SHEET

Senior bank debt $100,000 i $100,000
Senior subordinated debt! (81%) ) $150,000 121,500
Convertible subordinated notes - debt component? ’ ‘ 22,234
Other long-term debt : $ 29,673 : 29,673
- $273,407

Following is a summary of the equity outstanding as reflected on the January 31, 2003,
balance sheet:

Shareholders’ equity:

(in thousands)

Convertible subordinated notes - principal amount® © $255,000
Less portion atlocated to issued share capital | (8,487)
Less fair value adjustment (30%) ‘ (68,013)
Less debt component ‘ (22,234)

' 156,266

Class B non-voting shares (60,363,256 outstanding at $0.37/share) } 22,335

. $178,601
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1The difference between the principal amount of the senior subordinated notes and the fair
values recorded on the balance sheet will be accreted over their life as interest expense
(non-cashi).

2The present value of the interest payments that may become due on the convertible
subordinated notes in 2006, 2007 and 2008 (should the company meet certain financial
thresholds) has been recorded as long-term debt on the balance sheet. This component will
accrete up to the amount of the interest payments that may become due. The accretion will
be charged to interest expense (non-cash). The financial thresholds are based on cumulative
consolidated EBITDA less cumulative consolidated cash interest expense (excluding interest
on the convertible subordinated notes but including securitization interest expense) from
fiscal 2003 up to and including the test year.

Test Year Threshold

2006 $235 million
2007 ' $340 million
2008 $450 million

If the threshold is exceeded, then interest that accrued during the test year, to the extent
of the excess, will be paid in cash on December 31 of the subsequent test year. For greater
certainty, in the event that the threshold is exceeded in any test year, interest accrued for
any prior year will not under any circumstances become cash payable but will continue to
be accrued. '

For the 2008 test year, the cash interest payable (if any) would be payable at maturity
(November 30, 2008). For greater certainty, any such cash interest payable could not
be converted into equity by the company pursuant to its general right of conversion of all
principal and accrued interest on that date.

3The convertible subordinated note is recorded as equity on the balance sheet given the
company’s right and ability to convert the notes to equity upon maturity. Based on current
expectations, the company believes it is likely to convert the notes to voting equity shares
in November 2008. The equity portion of the convertible subordinated notes will be accreted
over the life of the instrument to the principal amount plus accrued (non-cash) interest, with
this accretion recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings.

Fixed assets were revalued using the discounted cash flow method and to aligh with the
new equity and debt values. Goodwill has been entirely eliminated, as is general practice
in comprehensive revaluations.

Further details with respect to the restructuring are provided in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Working Capital

The new accounting policy that requires companies to record revenue associated with the
purchases of Board grains from producers on a net basis (see Summary of Consolidated
Results — Presentation of Sales and Other Operating Revenues), resuits in the classification
of those amounts due from the CWB as accounts receivable as opposed to the CWB grain
being recorded as inventory, which was the previous practice. This change resuited in an
increase in accounts receivable and a corresponding decrease in inventory at January 31,
2003 of $101 million. At July 31, 2003, the adjustment was $113 million.




Current assets were $398 miilion at July 31, down $38 million from January 31. A decrease
of $69 million in inventory and $13 million in cash in trust was partially offset by an increase
of $17 million in short-term investments held by joint ventures and a $26 million increase in
accounts receivable. Lower inventories were mainly due to lower levels of non-Board grain in
stock. The increase in accounts receivable relates primarily to amounts due from the CWB.
The current ratio was 1.31 at July 31 compared to 1.30 at January 31.

As part of the financial restructuring, the company obtained a $240 million asset-backed
revolving credit facility with its bankers to finance working capital needs. Drawings on the
facitity at July 31 were $118 million including $25 million related to letters of credit and
similar instruments required to operate an agri-business. Availability under the facility is
determined by reference to the level of inventories and accounts receivable. An additional
$43 million was available to draw on the facility as at July 31, 2003.

Cash Flow Information

Cash flow from operations was $1.9 million for the six months ending July 31, 2003, and
cash flow used in operations was $26.4 million for the six months ending January 31, 2003.
These results reflect the impact of significant volume decreases due 1o drought.

Although grain deliveries for fiscal 2004 will fall short of normal levels, cash flow from
operations is expected to improve significantly in fiscal 2004,

Capital expenditures were $2.4 million for the six months ended July 31, 2003, and were
$3.4 million for the six months ended January 31, 2003. Capital expenditures are expected
1o increase to approximately $20 million for fiscal 2004 and will be primarily directed toward
maintenance spending.

Total Debt
(in millions) JULY 31, 2003 JANUARY 31, 2003
Bank indebtedness and short-term borrowings - $121 $138
Member demand loans and shares 1 8
Long-term debt due in one year 8 | 7
Total short-term debt 140 153
Bank term loan 91 100
Senior subordinated note 125 121
Convertible subordinated note - debt component ~ 24 22
Members’ term loans 5 ° 5
Subsidiaries and proportionate share of joint venture debt 21 25
Total long-term debt 266 273
Total debt $406 $426

The bank term loan decreased by approximately $9 million during the six months ended July
31, 2003, due to a repayment from the proceeds of certain asset sales in accordance with
the credit agreement with the company’s bankers.

Interest is payable monthly on the bank term loan. Under the terms of the loan agreement,
blended payments of interest and principal commence on October 1, 2004, if certain EBITDA
thresholds are met. Otherwise these payments commence October 1, 2005. Given the
smaller than normal harvest this fall and low carryout of grain stocks, no principal
repayments are expected to be made on this ioan until October 2005.
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Interest is paid monthly into a trust and distributed quarterly to the holders of the senior
subordinated notes. No principal payments are due until maturity on November 29, 2008.

The Pool's total debt-to-equity ratio at July 31, 2003, was 71:29 (January 31, 2003 - 71:29)
and its long-term debt-to-equity ratio was 63:37 (January 31, 2003 - 61:39).

Convertible Subordinated Notes

Convertible subordinated notes with a principal value of $255 million were issued under the
Pool’s financial restructuring initiative. Each $1,000 of notes is convertible, at the option of
the holder, into approximately 2,227 shares at any time prior to the November 30, 2008,
maturity date. Conversions of the notes to July 31, 2003, were as follows:

. CONVERTIBLE NOTES CLASS B

(in thousands) FACE VALUE SHARES
Outstanding January 31, 2003 $255,000 60,363
Conversions to July 31, 2003 (50,172) 111,744
$204,828 172,107

At maturity, the Pool has the right to convert, subject to certain conditions, the convertible
subordinated notes into shares of a single class of voting common shares of the company
that represents 90% of the outstanding shares of such class on a fully diluted basis,
provided that any payments to or conversions by holders of such notes into Class B
non-voting shares prior to maturity proportionately reduces this 90% conversion ratio.

On the July 31, 2003 balance sheet, $131 million of the convertible subordinated notes
has been classified as equity and $24 million has been classified as debt. The difference
between these amounts and the par value of the convertible subordinated note of $205
million is being accreted over its remaining life.

Debt Ratings

The following debt ratings have been assignhed by Dominion Bond Rating Services
and Standard and Poors (previous rating in brackets - NR means not rated, SD means
selective default):

RATING AGENCY CORPORATE RATING BANK DEBT SENIOR NOTE CONVERTIBLE NOTE
Dominion Bond Rating Services B stable (NR) NR  (C) Blow (C) NR (NR)
Standard and Poors B stable (SD) B (D) CccC+ (D) CcCC+ (NR)

Defined Benefit Pension Pian Surplus

The company’s defined benefit pension plans had a combined surplus of $37.1 million at
July 31, 2003. The current service cost for these plans is expected to be approximately
$1.1 million for the year ending July 31, 2004. No employer contributions are expected to
be made to these plans in fiscal 2004,

LOOKING FORWARD

For fiscal 2004, the grain available to the elevator system in Western Canada is expected to
increase from the previous year to 26 million tonnes, but still remain below the 33 million in
a normal year. This is a result of crop production levels that are estimated to finish 15%




below the five-year average due to sustained heat during August, in addition to a percentage
that producers will hold back and carry into 2005 fiscal year to replenish grain reserves. The
Pool expects its shipments to range from six to seven million tonnes for the year and remains
optimistic that weather conditions in the spring will support a normal agri-products sales
season. Management believes that fiscal 2004 earnings and cash flow will recover
significantly based on these assumptions; however, the extent of the recovery remains
dependent upon moisture levels and weather conditions throughout the agri-products sales
season next spring.

RISK MANAGEMENT

As part of its business environment, the Pool faces certain risks, which include weather,
strategic, market, financial restriction, regulatory, credit, foreign exchange, property and
liability, and environmental risks, as weill as those arising from its reliance on computerized
business systems. These risks are managed in a variety of ways.

Governance and Oversight

The company’s Risk Management Committee (the Committee) is responsible for assessing
enterprise risks and implementing strategies to reduce the company’s exposure. it is a senior
management committee with the mandate to implement an enterprise risk management
program for the company that contributes to maximizing shareholder value. The Committee
meets regularly to assess risks and direct risk mitigation activities designed to ensure
achievement of the Pool’s objectives. Regular reports are provided to the Audit Committee

of the Board of Directors. .

Weather Risk

The Pool's most significant risk, as an agri-business operator, is the weather. The effects of
weather conditions on crop quality and production as well as Canadian export levels of grains
and oilseeds present significant operating and financial risk to the Pool since volume is one
of the major drivers of performance in the Grain Handling and Marketing segment. The level
and mix of agri-product sales are also dependent on weather, as well as commodity price
expectations and projected supplies of grain in Western Canada. These factors determine
crop selection by producers at seeding time, which drives demand for agri-products. Crop
selection decisions are critical since certain crops require significantly more inputs than
other crops. The Pool’'s agri-products group works closely with its grain group to assist in
anticipating producers’ seeding intentions and managing agri-product inventories accordingly.

The Pool has mitigated its exposure to weather with the expansion of its grain handling and
agri-products business into Alberta and Manitoba. Having facilities in these two provinces,
where half of Western Canada’s grain is grown, should help to reduce weather-related
production risks and provide additional marketing and transportation options. Handling of
open market grains and special crops is also expected to help mitigate the risk of yearto-year
production changes and export shifts between Board and non-Board grains.
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Strategic Risk

The Pool's vertical integration through certain agri-food processing businesses, while
providing alternative revenue sources and opportunities for higher returns, exposes the
Pool to market risks and other factors associated with such businesses.

Market Risk

A significant portion of the company’'s sales are derived from its Grain Handling and
Marketing segment. Earnings for this segment fluctuate substantially based on the volume
of grain handied and the margin earned on the purchase and sale of non-Board grains. In
the case of Board grain, the Pool earns storage and handling tariffs from the CWB, which
are established independently of the market price for grain.

The Pool ships Board grain ~ wheat and barley sold by or on behalf of the CWB - into the
export and domestic markets. For these grains, the company’s risks are reduced in part
through the terms of formal legal arrangements between the Pool and the CWB. The
arrangements provide for full reimbursement of the price paid to producers for grain as well
as certain costs incurred by the Pool. Adverse impacts may be experienced by the company
where its handling of Board grain results in a loss of grade or, in the case of the CWB's
tendering program, if the Pool fails to meet the requirements under the tendering contract.
The Pool participates in the CWB Accredited Exporter Program. Risk of commadity price
movement is reduced for grain handled under this program, which is structured as a flow-
through of product to the end-use customer.

For other grains and oilseeds that it purchases, the Pool faces the risk of movement in price
between the time the grain is purchased and the time that it is sold. Hedging, where such
opportunities exist, reduces this risk. Hedging is the placing of an opposite position in the
futures market to that held in the cash market to minimize the risk of financial loss from

an adverse price change.

The Pool maintains, to the extent possible, a fully hedged position on all non-Board grain
purchases and sales. This is accomplished by hedging all purchases and sales of non-Board
grains through regulated futures markets. Because of the size of future contracts and certain
time constraints, it may not be possible to be fully hedged at all times. In order to avoid
material risk to its earnings, the Pool has employed the use of position limits. Special crops
are more difficult to hedge, as no regulated futures market exists for these commodities

and the hedging instruments available lack liquidity. Where possible, financial exposure

to unhedged purchases and sales is reduced by back-to-back buying and selling.

Financial Restrictions

The credit agreement with the company's bankers and the Trust Indenture for the senior
subordinated notes and the convertible subordinated notes contain provisions that require
the company to comply with certain financial restrictions. The Pool is required to meet
certain financial tests including minimum levels of cash flow, a minimum current ratio and
a maximum annual level of capital expenditures. in addition, these agreements limit the
ability of the company and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness and make
additional investments.

The company's ability to comply with these agreements may be affected by events beyond its
control. The company may require the consent of its lenders to undertake certain transactions




such as mergers or the sale of assets or businesses. Substantially all of the company's
assets have been pledged to secure the existing funded debt of the company.

Reguiatory Risk

Risks and uncertainties associated with world grain markets, including World Trade
Organization rules and compliance with the 1994 GATT agreement, economic conditions,
economic aid and political stability in importing nations, economic conditions and political
stability in producing nations and the level of trade subsidies provided by governments to
producers in grain exporting nations all have an effect on the Canadian grain industry, the
company and its producers.

Credit Risk

The Pool is exposed to credit risk in connection with credit provided to its customers. The
Pool manages credit risk through adherence to its established Credit and Collection policies.
These policies cover the Pool’s agri-products and commercial grain credit facilities, as well
as the credit facilities for Can-Oat and the Heartland Group of Companies.

The Credit Policy dictates that all credit customers must apply for credit privileges and
receive an approved credit timit prior to any extension of credit. It also sets out the terms
and conditions of continuing credit sates. The Collection Policy provides the framework that
details the timely and systematic approach to collections of any past due accounts. Any
exceptions to the Credit and Collection policies require the written approval of the Pool's
executive management. It is the responsibility of all divisions to take steps to help ensure
that sufficient and appropriate systems, procedures and practices are in place to facilitate,
maintain, monitor and report on compliance with the policies.

The Pool has actively pursued a payment and country risk minimization strategy for offshore
customers through the use of export financing arrangements, strategic business alliances
and country risk reporting. Export financing payment arrangements include cash prior to
unloading, cash against documents and obtaining confirmed letters of credit.

The discovery of a single case of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE) in northern
Alberta was announced on May 20, 2003. All countries immediately closed their borders

to Canadian cattle and beef, although a few, including the United States, have since opened
the border to beef from younger animals. Cattle and beef prices in Canada have declined
substantially and are not expected to return to pre-BSE levels for years to come. This will
reduce producers’ cash fiow and could affect the level of agri-products purchases, in addition
10 increasing the risks associated with producers’ credit.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Significant portions of Can-Oat’s oat products and the Pool’s non-Board grains are sold into
the export market and are priced in U.S. dollars. Can-Oat and the Pool hedge substantially all
foreign currency transactions using options, futures currency contracts or forward exchange
contracts, and through the use of natural hedges created by offsetting transactions.
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Property and Liability Risk

The Pool, directly or through its affiliate, Canadian Pool Agencies Ltd., conducts annual risk
management reviews of each of its operating divisions and wholly owned subsidiaries to
ensure that appropriate insurance coverage and loss prevention measures are in place to
limit the property and liability risks faced by the company. As part of the review, all major
facilities are inspected and loss prevention programs are discussed with managers of each
facility. The Pool retains Canadian Pool Agencies Lid. as its agent and broker in placing
insurance coverage for its facilities.

The Pool’s policy is to manage its risks so that the company’s. financial position is protected.
It has insurance policies-that cover a variety of property and liability insurance needs. - - -

Environmental Risk

The Pool is subject to a number of federal and provincial laws and regulations relating to

the environment and the transportation, handling and storage of hazardous substances such
as certain crop protection products. In compliance with the Pool’s commercial environmental
policy, all properties have environmental site assessments conducted upon acquisition

and divestiture. Periodic audits are completed for all facilities and an annual status report

is prepared. The Pool responds to inquiries from producers and the public and provides
information regarding environmental frends, legislation and impending standards related

to agriculture and food production and processing. As a result of its involvement in the hog
production business, the company has established an environmental protocol to govern those
intensive livestock operations.

There can be no assurance that environmental requirements will not change in the future,
that unanticipated environmental remediation will not be required or that the Poo! will not
incur significant costs in the future in complying with such requirements,

Computerized Business Systems

The Pool places significant reliance on information technology. Its computer systems include
custom-developed and purchased business applications, both for information and processing,
and embedded systems, which support ongoing administrative and commercial operations.

In addition, the Pool refies upon telecommunications services to interface with its widely
distributed business network and customers. The information and embedded systems of key
business partners and regulatory agencies, including railway companies, the CWB and the
Canadian Grain Commission, are also important to the Pool’s operations.

The Pool has centralized the majority of these systems in its data center and mitigates the
risk of interruption by contracting business resumption services to a third-party service
provider. Increased emphasis on operational performance of the Pool's custom-developed
applications has improved reliability and availability.

EBIT AND EBITDA DATA

The EBIT and EBITDA data provided herein is intended to provide further insight with respect
to the company's financial results, including its results on a segment-by-segment basis and
to supplement its earnings (loss) as determined in accordance with GAAP. The Pool’'s method
of calculating EBIT and EBITDA may not be comparable to other companies in the industry.




EBIT should therefore not be used as an alternative to net earnings (loss) as determined
in accordance with GAAP. Similarly, EBITDA should not be used as an alternative to cash
provided by operating activities as determined in accordance with GAAP,

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

Certain statements in this annual report and this Management's Discussion and Analysis
are forward-looking and refiect the Pool’s expectations regarding future results of operations,
financial condition and achievements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results,

performance and achievements of the Poo!l to be materially different from any future results,” -

performance and achievements expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements.
A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations,
including producers’ decisions regarding total seeded acreage, crop selection, and utilization
levels of farm inputs such as fertilizers and crop protection products; weather conditions;
Canadian grain export levels; changes in government policy and transportation deregulation;
world agricultural commodity prices and markets; changes in competitive forces including
pricing pressures; and global political and economic conditions, including grain subsidy
actions of the United States and the European Union.

23




SASKATCHEWAN WHEAT POOL

24

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF SASKATCHEWAN WREAT POOL

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Saskatchewan Wheat Pool as at July 31, 2003
and January 31, 2003 and the consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings and cash
flows for the six months ended January 31, 2003, six months ended July 31, 2003 and twelve
months ended July 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonabie assurance whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the company as at July 31, 2003 and January 31, 2003 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the six months ended July 31, 2003, six months ended January
31, 2003 and twelve months ended July 31, 2002 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

Regina, Saskatchewan M i) T&AML. e .

Deloitte & Touche LLP
October 22, 2003 Chartered Accountants

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Saskatchewan Wheat Pool is responsible for the reliability, integrity and
objectivity of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and annua! report. The financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. Where necessary, the statements include amounts that are based on informed
judgments and estimates by management.

To assist management in fulfilling its responsibilities, a system of internal accounting controls has
been established to provide reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are
accurate and reliable and that assets are safeguarded. internal accounting and operating control
policies and procedures are continually evaluated by management of the company. Management
receives assistance in evaluating these controls, policies and procedures through an ongoing
review by internal audit staff of the company.

The Board of Directors is responsible for approving the annuail financial statements. The Board has
delegated certain responsibilities to the Audit Committee, including the responsibility for reviewing
the annual and quarterly financial statements with management, internal auditors and external
independent auditors on matters relating to the financial reporting process.

These financial statements have been audited by the shareholders’ auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP,
and their report is presented separately.

e SAborirF O@r\w

Mayo M. Schmidt Lyn L. Kristoff
Chief Executive Officer Vice-President, Finance
and Corporate Controlier

October 22, 2003




SASKATCHEWAN WHEAT POOL : CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands) : July 31 January 31
2003 | 2003
‘ (Note 2)
(restated)

ASSETS 1

Current Assets ' i
Cash . $ 1,882 $ 2,382
Cash in trust (Note 24d) 487 13,898
Short-term investments 45615 29,088
Accounts receivable (Notes 3m and 4) 222,137 195,729
Inventories (Notes 3m and 5) 115972 185,227
Prepaid expenses 9,973 8,469
Future income taxes (Note 18¢) 1,624 782
397690 435,575
Investments (Note 6) 5,020 | 4,945
Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 7) 291,603 314,413
Other Long-Term Assets (Note 8) 9,368 | 7476
Future Income Taxes (Note 18¢) 80,324 80,324
: $784,005 | $842,733

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities ; .
Bank indebtedness (Note 9) $ 28,192 $ 15,674

Short-term borrowings (Note 9) 92,920 | 122,174
Members' demand loans (Note 10) 9,185 6,178
Members' Class A shares (Note 11) 1,791 | 1,797
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 163,177 i 181,484
Long-term debt due within one year (Note 12) 7,810 " 7155
303,055 ! 334,462
Long-Term Debt (Note 12) 265,754 273,407
Other Long-Term Liabilities (Note 13) 44,867 ' 47,300
Future Income Taxes (Note 18c) 7553 i 8,909
Non-Controlling Interest ' - ‘; 54
621,229 ~ 664,132

Shareholders' Equity ‘;
Share capital (Note 14) 59,417 : 22,335
Contributed surplus 84 : -
Convertible subordinated notes - equity component {Note 15) 130,663 : 156,266
Retained earnings (deficit) (27,388) -
162,776 i 178,601
$784,005 . $842,733

Commitments, contingencies and guarantees (Note 24)

On behalf of the Board of Directors

M g /éﬁ F

Marvin D. Wiens ‘ Gary Colter
Director Director
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SASKATCHEWAN WHEAT POOL CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(in thousands) : ) Pre-recrganization
: ' Six Months Six Months  Twelve Months
' ’ o ended July 31 ended January 31 ended July 31
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED - - - 2003 2003 2002
(restated) (restated)

Gross Billings - . 7

Grain sales and service revenue $255,967 $496,805 $ 917240
Sales and service revenue -~ other segments 427,700 217,725 1,086,291
Sales and service revenues 683,667 714,530 2,003,531
Canadian Wheat Board gross billings (Note 3m) 264,181 255,717 777875

Gross Billing$ : _. $ 947,848 $ 970,247  $2,781,406

Sales and ther Operating Revenues

Sales and service revenues ’ $683,667 $ 714,530 $2,003,531
Canadian Wheat Board tariffs 14,279 16,668 50,149
2 . 697,946 731,198 2,053,680
Cost of Sales and Expenses _
Cost of sales and operating expenses 653,124 710,069 1,904,342
Selling and administrative expenses 27,204 24,519 . 16,526
Amortization : 12,573 25,793 70,937
Loss on disposals (Note 19) ~ ~ 17,606
Restructuring and other provisions (Note 20) - - 54,360
. _ 692,901 760,381 2,123,771
Earnings (Eoss) Before the Undernoted 5,045 (29,183) ~ (70,091)
Non-controlling interest recovery 53 1,233 867
Eamnings (Lo§s) Before Interest and Taxes 5,098 v (27,950) (69,224)
Interest expense (Note 17a) 23,807 23,650 57,761
Securitization expense (Note 17b) - 3,016 7,796
Loss Before Corporate Taxes _— - . (18,709) (54,616) - (134,781)
Recovery of corporate taxes (Note 18a) 2,800 20,180 42,622
Net Loss : : (15,909) (34,436) (92,159)
Retained/Earnings (Deficit), Beginning of Period - (54,422) 37,737
Accretionf of equity component of convertible
subordinated notes (Notes 14b and 15) (11,479) - . -
Retainedf Earnings (Deficit), End of Period $ (27,388) $(88,858) § (54,422)
Basic anﬂ Diluted Earnings (Loss)
Per Share (Note 14h) f $ {0.27) $ (092 % {2.46)
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SASKATCHEWAN WHEAT POOL

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands) Pre-reorganization
Six Months Six Months Twelve Months
. ended July 31  ended January 31 ended July 31
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 2003 2003 2002
: (restated) (restated)
Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities j
Net loss : $(15,909) $(34,436) $(92,159)
Add (deduct) items not involving cash
Amortization 12,573 25,793 70,937
Loss on disposals (Note 19) - - 17,606
Future income taxes recovery (Note 18a) (1,747) (22,827) - (48,482)
Pension” o : o 983 © 760 (8,552)
interest accretion and bank refinancing amortization 5,693 5,616 12,046
Non-controlling interest recovery (563) (1,233) (867)
Other items and provisions 316 (77 46,145
Cash flow from (used in) operations 1,856 (26,404) (3,326)
Changes in non-cash working capital items ‘
Accounts receivable (32,205) 27,704 192,915
Securitization of accounts receivable - (8,875) (123,555)
_Inventories 68,107 8,531 12,991
Secutitization of inventories - 14,277, 7451
Accounts payable (16,189) (31,931) (24,303)
Prepaid expenses (1,540) (991 2,412
Changes in non-cash working capital 18,173 8,715 67911
Cash from (used in) operating activities 20,029 (17,689) 64,585
Cash From (Used in) Financing Activities j
Praceeds of long-term debt - 72,969 5,488
Repayment of long-term debt (11,766) (2,966) (227,363)
Proceeds (repayment) of short-term borrowings (29,253) 4917 (135)
Increase (repayment) of members' demand loans 2,987 (18,446) (10,580)
Repayment of members' shares (6) (11) (M)
Decrease in other long-term liabilities (1,716) (260) (4,358)
Cash from (used in) financing activities (39,754) 56,203 (236,955)
Cash From (Used in) Investing Activities |
Property, plant and equipment expenditures (2,426} (3,357} (12,389)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 11,972 1,390 12,752
Divestitures (Note 19) - - 153,622
Decrease (increase) in cash in trust (Note 24d) 13,411 (13,898) -
Decrease in investments 378 3,168 2,553
Increase in other long-term assets (101) (6,201) (1,226)
Cash from (used in) investing activities 23,234 (18,898) 155,312
Increase {Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,509 19,616 (17,058)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 15,796 (3,820) 13,238
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 19,305 $ 15,796: $ (3,820)
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, short-term investments and bank indebtedness.
Supplemental disclosure of cash (paid) recovered during the year: :
Interest (27,250) (11,439) (44,924)
Securitization - (3,018) (8,396)
Income taxes (3,271} (3,418) 19,575
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as noted
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool (the company), which is
incorporated by a Special Act of the Saskatchewan
Legislature, is a vertically integrated diversified
company engaged in agri-business. The company’s
business operations include grain handling and
marketing, agri-products sales, agri-food processing
and livestock production and marketing. The company
operates as a bublicly traded co-operative and as such
canducts a significant portion of its business activities
with its shareholder members.

Weather conditions are the primary risk in the agri-
business industry. Grain volumes, grain quality, the
level and mix of crop inputs, and, ultimately, the
financial perfdrmance of the company are highly
dependent upon weather conditions throughout the
crop production cycle. Earnings are seasonal, with the
fourth quartertraditionally being the strongest quarter
for the company.

2.FINANCIAL REORGANIZATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Financial Reorganization

On October 24, 2002, the company announced its
intention to fund its long-term business plan by
restructuring its senior secured debt and obtaining new
credit facilities. An amendment to the existing credit
agreement was signed, which established new financial
covenants, and the company began the process of debt
restructuring with its banks and medium term
noteholders. A preliminary restructuring and refinancing
proposal received support from the banks on January 3,
2003, but was not endorsed by an ad hoc group
representing a portion of the medium term noteholders.

On February 3, 2003, the company amended its
restructuring proposal; the banks supported the
amendment. On February 4, the medium term
noteholders voted to approve the amended capital
restructuring proposal. This proposal provided for the
two existing series of medium term notes (MTNs), along
with $105 million of bank term debt, to be exchanged
for two new series of notes: (i) $150 million of senior
subordinated inotes and (ii) $255 million of convertible
subordinated notes. The convertible subordinated notes
includes holder conversion options at any time prior to
November 30, 2008. The company’s option to convert
can be madeion November 30, 2008. The proposal
also stipulated changes to the company's governance
structure, including the appointment of four

independent directors, and closer alignment with
Toronto Stock Exchange recommendations.

Subsequent to the January 31, 2003 quarter-end, the
company successfully concluded its financial
restructuring initiative. There were no significant changes
from the proposal approved in early February. Upon
closure, both series of MTNs totalling $300 million,
along with $105 million of bank term debt, were
exchanged proportionately for two new series of notes
and 22,938,037 Class B shares of the company.

Basis of Presentation - Fresh Start Accounting

The company has accounted for the financial
reorganization by using the principles of comprehensive
revaluation (fresh start accounting) as required under
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). For accounting purposes, the company has
used an effective date of January 31, 2003. Fresh start
accounting necessitated the revaluation of all assets
and liabilities of the company at estimated fair values
and the elimination of the company’s deficit. The
outcame of this revaluation exercise reflects, in
essence, a “fresh start” for the company.

At January 31, 2003, the book value of substantially ali
current assets and current liabilities approximated fair
value. The following assets and liabilities required
restatement to fair values.

i. Property, plant and equipment - at the fair value
supported by future anticipated cash flows

ii. Goodwill and pre-operating costs - at nil in
accordance with GAAP

iii. Pension and other employee future benefit plans -
at values determined by an independent actuary

iv. Senior subordinated notes - at current trading
value

v. Debt component of convertible subordinated notes
- at present value of estimated interest payments
associated with 2006 - 2008 fiscal years

vi. Future income taxes - at amounts more likely than
not to be realized over periods not exceeding five
years

Unamortized portion of the costs associated with
current and prior lending arrangements refiected
as long-term assets - at nil

vil,

viii.Unamortized portion of the costs associated with
prior lending arrangements reflected as prepaid
expenses - at nii




ix. Costs of restructuring - written off through the

fresh start adjustment

x. Agri-products equipment inventory - at selling

prices less disposal costs

An equity value of $178.6 million was calculated in
order to establish the January 31, 2003 fresh start
consolidated balance sheet. The equity vaiue reflects
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management's estimate based on the trading value

of the company’s Class B shares combined with an

estimate of the fair value of the non-debt component

of the company’s convertible subordinated notes.

January 31, 2003.

The following table summarizes the adjustments
recorded to implement the reorganization and to
reflect the fresh start basis of accounting as at

Priorto  Reorganization Fresh Start After
Reorganization Adjustments Adjustments Adjustments
ASSETS : ;
Current Assets :
Cash $ 2382 % - $ 2 $ 2,382
Cash in trust 13,898 - - 13,898
Short-term investments 29,088 - - 29,088
Accounts receivable 81,439 114,290 (a) - 195,729
Inventories 185,728 - (501) 185,227
Prepaid expenses 10,995 - (2,526) 8,469
Future income taxes 8,205 - (7,423) 782
331,735 114,290 (10,450) 435,575
Investments 7544 - (2,589) 4,845
Property, Plant and Equipment 611,428 - (297,015) 314,413
Other Long-Term Assets 141,354 8,995 (¢c) (142,873) 7476
Future Income Taxes 77569 - 2,755 80,324
$ 1,169,630 $ 123,285 $(450,182) $842,733
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities 3
Bank indebtedness $ 15674 $ - $ - $ 15,674
Short-term borrowings 7,884 114,290(a) - 122,174
Members’ demand loans 6,178 - - 6,178
Members’ Class A shares - - 1,797 1,797
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 173,489 7,995 (c) - 181,484
Long-term debt due within one year - 7155 - = 7,155
210,380 122,285 1,797 334,462
Long-Term Debt 533,881 {105,000){b) 792 273,407
(300,000)(b) :
150,000 (b) (28,500)
22,234 (b)
Other Long-Term Liabilities 45,922 1,000 (c) 378 47,300
Future Income Taxes 10,470 - (1,561) 8,909
Non-Controlling Interest 54 - - 54
800,707 (109,481) (27,094) 664,132
Sharehoiders’ Equity :
Share capital 457,781 8,487 (b) (457,781) 22,335
13,848
Convertible subordinated note - equity component - 224,279 (b) (68,013) 156,266*
Retained earnings (88,858) - 88,858 -
368,923 232,766 (423,088) 178,601
$1,169,630 $ 123,285 $842,733

$(450,182)

*Convertible subordinated note principal $139,257 and convertible subordinated noteholder options $17;009

rather than a sale transaction. The result is an
increase of $114.3 million to both accounts
receivable and short-term borrowings.

Summary of Adjustments;

(a) As part of the financial reorganization, the
company guarantees the underlying cash value
of assets sold in its securitization program. This
guarantee requires that the company treat its
securitization program as a financing transaction

(b) Both series of medium term notes totalling
$300 million, along with $105 million of bank
term debt, were exchanged proportionately for
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two new series of notes and 22.9 million Class

B shares of the company. Of the $405. million
exchanged, $150 million is refiected in the
reorganization column as debt.

The remaining $255 million is reflected as follows:

Share capital -

22,938,037 Class B shares issued $ 8,487
Convertible subordinated

note - debt component 22,234
Convertible subardinated

note - equity component 224,279

$ 255,000

In accordance with GAAP, the 22.9 million shares
issued were recorded at fair value and the convertible
subordinated notes are separated into their debt and
equity components, according to their substance. The
debt component is estimated at the present value of
the cash interest expected to be paid in accordance
with certain specified threshold tests for fiscal

2006 - 2008. The remainder is reflected as equity.

(c) Reflects a $13.6 million accrual for additional

regrganization expenses and costs associated with
new bank facilities ($1 million reflected as long-
term), net of the forgiveness of $4.6 million in
obligations associated with prior banking
arrangements. These costs were subsequently
valued at nil on the opening January 31, 2003
balance sheet in accordance with note 2ix.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the
operations of the company, its controlled subsidiaries
and its proportionate share of the assets, liabilities,
revenues.and expenses of joint ventures, which are
jointly controlled. All significant inter-company
balances and transactions, including profits in
inventories, have been eliminated. The company’s
principal subsidiaries/affiliates are as follows:

Subsidiary/ Accounting
Affiliate Name Ownership % Method
Can-Oat Milling 100% Consolidation
Heartland Feeds 100% Consolidation
Heartland' Pork Group 83.9% Consolidation
Prairie Mdlt Limited 42.4% Proportionate

‘ Consolidation
Western Co-operative 43% Proportionate

FertilizersiLimited Consolidation

b) Revenue Recognition

¢)

Sales are recognized upon shipment of products
and other operating and service revenues are
recognized when services are performed.
Transactions in which the company acts as agent
for the Canadian Wheat Board (CWB) are recorded
on a net basis, with anly the amount of the CWB
tariff included in revenue (note 3m).

Inventories

Grain inventories in the Grain Handling and
Marketing segment include both hedgeable and
non-hedgeable commodities. Hedgeable grain
inventories are valued on the basis of closing market
quotations less freight and handling costs and also
reflect gains and losses on open grain purchase
and sale contracts. Non-hedgeable grain inventories
are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Agri-products and other inventory which
consist of raw materials, work in progress and
finished goods are valued at the lower of cost

and net realizable value.

d) Investments

The company accounts for its investments in
affiliated companies over which it has significant
influence, using the equity basis of accounting,
whereby the investments are initially recorded at
cost, and subsequently adjusted to recognize the
company’s share of earnings or losses of the
investee companies and reduced by dividends
received. Short-term investments are recorded at
the lower of cost and market. Other investments
are recorded at cost. Upon applying fresh start
accounting effective january 31, 2003, the
investments were recorded at their estimated fair
value of $4.9 milfion.

e) Property, Plant and Equipment and Amortization

Additions to property, plant and equipment are
recorded at cost, which includes interest costs
incurred on construction of major new facilities prior
to the facilities becoming available for operation,
less amortization. Upon applying fresh start
accounting effective January 31, 2003, property,
plant and equipment were valued at the estimated
fair value of $314.4 miliion. The company reviews
the carrying value of its property, plant and
equipment to determine whether such values are
recoverable, with any resulting write-downs charged

—— e e
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to earnings. Amortization is provided for property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives using primarily the straight-line method. The
rates used are as follows:

Sites, trackage and paving 0-13%

Buildings 3-20%

Machinery and eguipment 5-50%

Vehicles 10 - 30%
f) Goodwill

Goodwill was valued at nil upon applying fresh
start accounting effective January 31, 2003, in
accordance with GAAP.

g) Corporate Taxes

The company follows the liability method of tax
allocation in accounting for income taxes. Under
this method, future tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between the
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities, and measured using the substantively
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. The
effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in income in the period
which includes the substantively enacted date.

h) Deferred Revenue

The majority of deferred revenue relates to payments
pursuant to grain storage licence agreements, which
are amortized into revenue over the life of the

- agreements which range from 10 to 40 years.

i) Post Employment Benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and
retirement allowance benefits earned by employees
is actuarially determined using the projected benefit
method prorated on sewice and management’s best
estimate of expected plan investment performance,
salary escalation, terminations and retirement ages
of plan members. For the purpose of calculating the
expected return on plan assets, those assets are
valued at fair value. Past service costs from plan
amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the average remaining service period of
employees active at the date of amendment. The
excess of the net actuariat gain (loss) over 10%
of the greater of the benefit obligation and the fair
value of plan assets is amortized over the average
remaining service period of active employees. The
cost of pension benefits for defined contribution
plans is charged to operations as contributions
become due.

i)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - in thousands of Canadian dallars, except as noted

Foreign Exchange Cantracts and Foreign

Currency Transactions

The company enters into forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge exposure to foreign currency
exchange risk resulting from transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. Unrealized gains
and losses on forward foreign exchange contracts
are recognized in income on a basis consistent with
the recognition of the underying hedged
transactions. Monetary assets and !iabilities are
translated into Canadian dollars at the rate in effect
at the balance sheet date; non-monetary items are
translated at the rate in effect on the transaction
date. Exchange gains or losses arising from
translations are recognized in income in the period
in which they occur.

k) Stock-Based Compensation Plan

Effective August 1, 2002, the company adopted
the new Canadian Institute of Chartered .
Accountants (CICA) standard with respect to stock-
based compensation and other stock-based
payments, which requires that a fair value based
method of accounting be applied to all stock-based
payments to non-employees and to direct awards
of stock to employees. The company records an
expense in the period options are granted based
on the fair value method as determined by the
Black-Scholes pricing model, and records the offset
to contributed surplus.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. These
estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of current events and actions that
the company may undertake in the future. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

m)Changes in Accounting Policies

i) For the 2003 fiscal year, the company
retroactively adopted the new Canadian Institute
of Chartered Accountants (CICA) standard
regarding revenue recognition (Emerging Issues
Committee Abstract 123). This standard applies
to the company’s and the industry’s handling of
certain grains on behalf of the Canadian Wheat
Board (CWB). Under this new accounting policy,
the company records only the tanff revenue
related to handling CWB grains. The company 31
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purchases grain from producers on behalf of
the CWB and records the related amounts as
accounts receivable due from the CWB. The
impact of adopting this standard is as follows:

* No impact on net loss or retained
earnings (deficit).

« Reduces sales and other operating revenues
for the six months ended July 31, 2003 by
$249.9 million (six months ended January 31,
2003 - $239.0 million, 12 months ended .
July 31, 2002 - $727.7 mitlion).

» Reduces costs of sales and operating expenses
for the six months ended July 31, 2003 by
$249.9 million (six months ended January 31,
2003 - $239.0 million, 12 months ended
July 31, 2002 - $727.7 million).

* {ncreases accounts receivable and
correspondingly decreases inventories at
July:31, 2003 by $112.5 million (January 31,
2003 - $101.3 million).

i) Effective August 1, 2002, the company
prospectively adopted the CICA new standard
with respect to goodwill and other intangible
assets, which requires that goodwill no longer be
amortized but instead be tested for impairment at
least annuatly.

iii) Effective August 1, 2002, the company
prospectively adopted the new CICA standard
with.respect to stock-based compensation as
outlined in note 3k.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (see note 3m)
July 31 January 31

2003 2003
Trade accounts $ 79,641 $ 72,285
The Canadian Wheat Board 137624 106,190
Other ‘ 4,872 17,254

$222137 $195,729

5. INVENTORIES (see note 3m)
July 31 January 31

2003 2003
Grain | $ 37461 $100,621
Agri-products 51,231 50,166
Agri-food processing 14,410 15,431
Other - 12,870 19,009

$115,972 $185,227

6. INVESTMENTS
July 31 January 31

2003 2003
Investments in significantly
influenced companies
- equity method $2,229 $2,261
QOther long-term investments
- cost method 2,791 2,684
$5,020 $4,945

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

July 31

2003
July 31 Accumulated  January 31
2003  Amortization 2003

Sites, trackage

and paving $ 9,628 $ 151 $ 11,744
Buildings 122,116 2,088 126,105
Machinery and

equipment 170,003 10,099 175,205
Vehicles 224 32 220
Construction

in progress 2,002 1,139

303,973 $12,370 314,413
Accumulated
amortization (12,370)

Net book vaiue $291,603 $314,413

Amortization of property, plant and equipment for

the six months ended July 31, 2003 was $12.4 million
{six months ended January 31, 2003 - $23.2 million,
12 months ended July 31, 2002 - $61.2 million).

8. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS
July 31 January 31

2003 2003
Deferred pension assets $2,379 $2,911
Livestock 3,791 3,649
Other 3,566 916

9,736 7476
Accumulated amortization (368) -
Net book value $9,368 $ 7,476

Amortization of goodwill, pre-operating costs and
deferred financing costs for the six months ended

July 31, 2003 total nil (six months ended January 31,
2003 -~ $2.6 million, 12 months ended July 31, 2002 -
$21.2 million).




9. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND SHORT-TERM
BORROWINGS

a) Bank Indebtedness

July 31 January 31
2003 2003

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool

bank indebtedness $23,471 $ 8,804
Subsidiaries’ and proportionate

share of joint ventures’ bank

indebtedness 4,721 6,870

Total $28,192 $15,674

b) Short-term Borrowings
July 31 January 31
2003 2003

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool

bank short-term borrowings $92,920 $122,174
Subsidiaries’ and proportionate

share of joint ventures’ short-term

borrowings

Total $92,920 $122,174

As part of the restructuring, the company established a
$240 million asset backed revolving credit facility with
its bankers, secured by accounts receivable, to the
extent of drawings on the securitization program, and a
first charge on the company’s assets. The $240 million
limit is adjusted to $275 million during certain months
of fiscal 2004. The facility matures July 31, 2005.
Interest is payable monthly at prime plus 3%.

At July 31, 2003, the company had outstanding letters
of credit and similar instruments of $25.0 miliion
related to operating an agri-business (January 2003 -
$34.8 million). These instruments effectively reduce the
amount of cash that can be drawn on the revolving
credit facility.

At July 31, 2003, availability under the revolving credit
facility was $42.5 million.

Subsidiaries and propartionate share of joint ventures’
short-term borrowings consist of bank operating loans,
which are secured by inventories, accounts receivable

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - in thousands of Canadian doliars, except as noted

and property, plant and equipment. The company does
not guarantee, nor does it have responsibility for the
repayment of the subsidiaries’ or joint ventures’ loans.

10. MEMBERS' DEMAND LOANS

Members’ demand ioans are funds loaned to the
company by Class A shareholders and employees.
At July 31, 2003, the loans bear interest at 6.0%
(January 2003 - 4.0%).

The loans are secured by a second ranking charge
against the company’s assets - subordinate to the
revolving credit facility and the senior secured bank
term loan and ranking equally with the senior
subordinated notes and the members’ term loans.

11. MEMBERS' CLASS A SHARES

Authorized
Unlimited Class A voting shares par value $25.

Class A voting shares are held by farmer-members and
are redeemable at the option of the shareholder at their
par value. These shares are reflected as a current
liability due to the redeemable nature. The following
table summarizes the Class A share capita! for the six-
month period ended July 31, 2003 (number of shares
and dollar values are reflected in thousands).

Class A Shares Issued and outstanding

# Shares*  $ Amount

Balance at July 31, 2002 72,328 $1,808
Redemptions - net (464) {11)
Balance at January 31, 2003 71,864 1,797
Redemptions - net (206) {6)

Balance at July 31, 2003 71,658 $1,791
*not shown in thousands :
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12.LONG-TERM DEBT

NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as noted

July 2003 July  January 2003 January
Weighted 2003 Weighted 2003
Average Carrying Average Carrying
‘ Interest Rate Value Interest Rate Value*
Senior secured bank term loan (a) 8.00% $ 90,600 8.00% $100,000
Senior subordinated notes (b) 8.00% 125,491 8.00% 121,500
Convertible subordinated notes
- debt cdmponent (c) 9.00% 23,935 9.00% 22,234
Members’ tefm loans 7.03% 4,676 8.85% 4,713
Sub-total 244,702 248,447
Subsidiaries’ and proportionate share of
joint ventures' debt: :
Secured. 6.11% 26,140 5.65% 28,835
Unsecured - interest free 2,722 3,280
Sub-total 28,862 32,115
Consolidated long-term debt 273,564 280,562
Portion due within one year (7,810) (7.155)
" $265,754 $ 273,407

*In accordance with fresh start accdunting the catrying value and fair value are equal at January 31, 2003

(a) Senior Secured Bank Term Loan
* Interest is payable monthly at 8% until the
commencement of blended monthly principal and
interest payments of approximately $1.5 million.

Blended payments to begin October 1, 2004
provided certain EBITDA thresholds are achieved.
in the event these thresholds are not achieved,
blended payments will begin October 1, 2005.

Balloon principal payment due Jbly 31, 2008.

Secured by a first ranking charge on the
company’s assets.

During the six months ended July 31, 2003,

in accordance with the credit agreement with
the company’s bankers, the company repaid
$9.4 million, representing the net proceeds
received from the sale of certain property, plant
and equipment.

» The fair market value is equal to the carrying value
at July 31, 2003.

(b) Senior Subordinated Notes
* Interest is payabie monthiy into a trust and
distributed quarterly. Prior to July 31, 2005,
interest is at 8% of the face value; thereafter
interest is at 12%. The face value at July 31, 2003
is $150 million (January 31, 2003 - $150 million).

» No principal payments are required until maturity
on November 29, 2008.

“

+ The company may redeem the notes prior to
maturity at a premium ranging from 106% of the
principal at any time prior to fanuary 1, 2005 to
101% after December 31, 2006.

Secured by a second ranking charge against the
company’s assets - subordinate to the revolving
credit facility and the senior secured bank term
loan and ranking equally with the members’
demand loans and members’ term loans.

« The fair market value of senior subordinated notes
at July 31, 2003 was approximately $124.5
million based upon the quoted market price.

(c) Convertible Subordinated Notes

* Interest accrues at 9%. No payment of interest is
required prior to July 31, 2005. Interest may
become payable after the end of each of the fiscal
years 2006 - 2008 provided that certain '
consolidated EBITDA less consolidated cash
interest and securitization threshold tests are met.
Annual interest payments are limited to a
maximum of the interest accruing on the notes
during each of the fiscal years 2006 - 2008.

Secured by a third ranking charge against the
company’s assets.

Convertible by the holder into Class B non-voting
shares of the company at the rate of approximately
2,227.2 shares per $1,000 of note principal at any
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time prior to November 30, 2008 (subject to
adjustment in certain events, such as a share
consolidation or share split).

+ On November 30, 2008, the company has the

" right to convert, subject to certain conditions, the
convertible subordinated notes into shares of a
single class of voting common shares of the
company that represent 90% of the outstanding
shares of such class on a fully dituted basis,
provided that any conversions by holders of such
notes into Class B non-voting shares prior to
maturity proportionately reduce this ratio. Under
this provision, the convertible subordinated notes
that remain outstanding at July 31, 2003 would
receive approximately 72% of these newly created
shares on a fully diluted basis.

* {n accordance with GAAP, the convertible

subordinated notes are separated into their debt

- and equity components, according to their
substance. The debt component is estimated at
the present value of the cash interest expected to
be paid in accordance with the aforementioned
threshold tests for fiscal 2006 - 2008. The
remainder is reflected as equity.

During the six months ended July 31, 2003,
$50.2 million face value of 9% notes were
converted at the holders' option into 111,743,788
Class B non-voting shares, feaving $204.8 million
of face value outstanding.

The fair market value of convertible subordinated
notes at July 31, 2003 was approximately $159.8
million based upon the quoted market price.

The sale of certain collateral for proceeds in excess of
$10 million would necessitate a partial redemption of,
first, the senior subordinated notes until redeemed in

full and, secondly, the proceeds would be applied to .
the convertible subordinated notes.

Members’ term loans are secured and consist of
two-year to seven-year loans with Class A sharehoiders
and employees. interest is payable semi-annually at
interest rates which vary from 4.4% to 9.0%. The fair
market value of member loans at July 31, 2003 was
$4.7 million.

The subsidiaries’ and the proportionate share of jgint
ventures’ secured debts bear interest at fixed and
variable rates. The secured debts mature in years 2004
to 2016. The debts are secured by certain assets and
some are subject to meeting certain covenants. The

subsidiaries’ and the proportionate share of joint
ventures’ unsecured debts mature in 2005. The fair
market value at July 31, 2003 of subsidiaries’ and the
propartionate share of joint ventures’ secured debt was
$26.1 million and unsecured debt was $2.3 million.

The company does not guarantee nor does it have
responsibility for the repayment of the subsidiaries’ or

. joint ventures' debts.

The maturities of subsidiaries’ and the proportionate
share of joint ventures’ long-term debt are as follows:

2004 $ 6,529
2005 5,907
2006 5,803
2007 : 5,592
2008 “ 684
Subsequent years ; 4,247

$28,862

13. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

July 31 January 31

2003 2003

Provision for reclamation :
costs (a) $13,928 $12,920
Deferred revenue 13,469 15,069
Restructuring provision (b) 5,222 7961
Retirement aliowances 5,049 6,440
Environmental 1,850 2,095
Other 5,349 2,815
$44,867 $ 47300

(a) In 1987, a joint venture, which manufactured
phosphate and nitrate fertilizers, closed two of its
facilities. The provision for reclamation costs
represents the company’s proportionate share
of the best estimate by management of the joint
venture, of the costs that it would incur during
the reclamation process. Reclamation involves
the demolition of the manufacturing facilities and
the reclamation of the phosphogypsum stacks.
Uncertainty exists regarding the estimation of future
decommissioning and reclamation costs.

(b) Reflects management'’s best estimate of future costs
associated with the fiscal 2003 provision for the
company’s investment in Comercializadora La Junta,
S.A.deCV.

14. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized
Unlimited Class B non-voting shares

Class B non-voting shares are traded on the Toronto
Stock Exchange. Under the terms of its bank financing
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agreement, the company is prohibited from paying dividends on Class B shares. in accordance with the Act of
Incarporation of the company, a person, including any persons associated or affiliated with that person, may not
own more than 10% of the total number of issued Class B shares.

Ciass B Shares; Stock Options Issued and Qutstanding
# Options  $ Ascribed # Shares $ Amount
‘ Value

Balance at Julyi 31, 2002 2,508 $ - 37425 $ 455,884
Issued during period 223 100 - -
Balance at January 31, 2003 - pre-reorganization 2,731 100 37,425 455,884
Issued as part of restructuring - - 22,938 8,487
Fair value adjustments - (100) ~ {442,036)
Balance at January 31, 2003 - post-reorganization 2,731 - 60,363 22,335
Convertible subordinated notes converted to Class B shares '

in the period - - 111,744 317,082
Options cancelled (320) - - -
Balance at July 31, 2003 2,411 $ - 172,107 $ 59,417
a) Stock Options

Management Stock Option Plan

Options granted under the Management Stock Option Plan must be appraved by the Board of Directors. To
date, 3,729,700 shares have been allocated to the plan. Under this plan options are exercisable in increments
over a maximum of 10 years beginning on the first anniversary date of the option grant. Options granted under
this plan primarily vest at a rate of 25% per year commencing on the first anniversary date of the grant.

New Members’ Stock Option Plan

On July 31, 2000, this plan was closed to new applicants. Options previously issued will continue until
exercised or expired.

The fair value of options issued in the year was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: risk free rate 4.85%, dividend yield 0%, a volatility factor of the expected market price
of the company’s shares of 100, and a weighted-average expected option life of five years. There were 325,264
options:issued in the first quarter with an exercise price (equal to market price at the date of issue) of $1.55.
For the six months ended July 31, 2003 $0.1 million was expensed as stock-based compensation

(six months ended January 31, 2003 - $0.1 million).

A continuity of the stock options is as follows:

July 31, 2003 January 31, 2003

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Shares Exercise Shares Exercise

(000's) Price (000's) Price

Outstanding, beginning of period 2,731 $ 5.15 2,508 $ 5.56
Granted - $ - 325 $ 155
Exercised - 5 - - $ -
Cancelled (320 $ 8.44 _(102) $ 3.83
Outstanding, end of period 2411 § 47t 2,731 $ 515
Options exercisable, end of periad 1,222 $ 6.09 1,333 $ 6.96
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The following table summarizes information about total options outstanding at July 31, 2003:
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Options Outstanding Options :Exercisable
Number  ~ Weighted Number Weighted
Range of Qutstanding at Range of ' Average Excercisable at’ Average
Exercise July 31, 2003 Expiry Exercise July 31, 2003’ Exercise
Prices (00Q’s) Periods Price (000’s). Price
<$ 3 925 20112012 $ 2 285 $ 3
$3-57 1,121 2004-2010 $5 621 $ 5
$ 8-$13 194 2004-2009 $ 8 146 $ 8
$14-$17 _amn 2006-2008 $15 0 $15
2411 $ 5 1222 $ 6
b) Earnings Per Share
Six Months Six Months Twelve Months
ended July 31 ended January 31 ended July 31
2003 2003 ‘ 2002
Net loss for the period $ (15,909) $ (34,436) $ {92,159)
Less: Accretion of equity component of convertible *
subordinated notes (11,479) - -
Total $ (27,388) $ (34,436) $ (92,159)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.27) $  (0.92) $ (2.46)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding* 99,947,222 37,425,219 37,425,219

*not shown in thousands

In calculating the Weighted average number of shares outstanding, the 22.9 million shares issued as part of the

restructuring were assumed to be issued as of January 31, 2003.

The potentially dilutive effect of the conversion of the convertible subordinated notes and the exercise of options
related to the New Members’ and Management Stack Option Plans were nat included in the calculation of

diluted earnings (ioss) per share as the result would be anti-dilutive.

15, CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES - EQUITY COMPONENT

The company issued $255 million of convertible subordinated notes as part of the January 31, 2003 financial
restructuring. As outlined in note 12c these convertible subordinated notes are classified on the balance sheet
into their debt and equity components. The table below provides a continuity of the equity component.

January 31, 2003 face value $255,000
Portion reflected as share capital - reorganization adjustment (see note 2) (8,487)
Portion reflected as debt - reorganization adjustment (see note 2) {22,234)
224,279
Fair value adjustment (see note 2) {68,013)
January 31, 2003 fair value - post fresh start 156,266
Accretion to retained earnings {see note 14b) 11,479
Conversions in the six-month period ended July 31, 2003
with a face value of $50.2 million (see note 14) (37,082)
$ 130,663
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16. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Pension Benefit Plans

Retirement Allowances

July 31 January 31 July 31 January 31
2003 2003 2003 2003
Plan Assets
Fair value, at beginning of period $ 228,547 $248,534 $ - $ -
Actual return an pian assets 3,188 3,799 - -
Employer contiibutions - - 76 128
Employees’ contributions 172 189 - -
Benefits paid (8,105) (7,478) (76) (128)
Fresh start adjustment - (16,497) - -
Fair value, at end of period 223,802 228,547 - -
Accrued Benefit Obligation
Balance, beginning of period 187914 184,571 4,875 6,469
Current service cost 873 989 98 98
Interest cost 6,064 6,050 152 152
Benefits paid: (8,149) (7,507) (76) (128)
Fresh start adjustment ~ 3,811 - (1,716)
Balance, endjof period 186,702 187914 5,049 4 875
Funded status - plan surplus (deficit) 37,100 40,633 (5,049) (4,875)
Unamortized net actuarial loss {gain) 4,697 -~ - (1,565)
Accrued benefit asset (liability) 41,797 40,633 (5,049) (6,440)
Valuation allowance (39,127) (37,408) - -
Accrued benefit asset (liability), : i
net of valuation allowance 2,670 3,225 (5,049) (6,440)
Add: accrued bensfit liability of
proportionately consolidated companies (291) _{314) - -
Consolidated accrued benefit asset (liability), :
net of valuation allowance $ 2,379 $ 2911 $ (5,049) $(6,440)

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the company’s accrued benefit assets are as follows:

Pension Benefit Plans

Retirement Allowance

July 31 January 31 July 31 July 31 January 31 July 31

2003 2003 2002 2003 2003 2002

Discount rate 6.50% 6.50% 1.10% 6.50% 6.50% 6.60%
Expected long-term rate

of return on plan assets 7.00% 7.00% 8.00% - - -

Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.00% 4.00% 4.00% 3.00%
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The company’s net benefit plan (income) expense is as follows:
Pension Benefit Plans

Retirement Allowance

Six Six Twelve Six : Six Twelve

Months Months Months Months Months Months

ended ended ended ended ended ended

July 31 January 31 July 31 July 31 January 31 July 31

2003 2003 2002 2003 2003 2002

Current service cost § 01 $ 799 $ 1442 $ 98 $ 98 $ 265

Interest cost 6,064 6,050 12,634 152 152 448
Expected return on §

plan assets {7,885) (8,415) (21,917} - bo- -
Amortization of past

service costs - - 2,324 - bo- -
Amortization of net

actuarial gain - - (2,218) - Po- (225)
Amortization of

transitional asset - - (6,291) - . -
Valuation allowance ;
provided against :

accrued benefit asset 1,719 2,216 9,522 - - -

Curtailment/settlement gains - - - - L - (565)

599 650 (4,504) 250 250 (79)
Net benefit expense of ‘

proportionately
consolidated companies 135 96 282 - P - -
Net benefit (income) expense $ 734 $ 746 $ (4,222) $250 $ 250 $ (79)

The total expense for the company’s defined contribution plans for the six months ended July 31, 2003 is $1.4
million {six months ended January 31, 2003 - $1.5 million, 12 months ended July 31, 2002 - $3.5 million).

17. INTEREST AND SECURITIZATION FEES AND EXPENSE

a) Interest

Six Six . Twelve
Months Months i Months
ended ended | ended
July 31 January 31 July 31
2003 2003 2002
Interest on long-term debt $11,218 $ 16,112 :$34,589
Other interest 6,896 1,922 11,126
Interest accretion and amortization of }
deferred financing costs 5,693 5,618 - 12,046
$23,807 $ 23,650 '$ 57,761
b) Securitization
Securitization expense $ - $ 3,016 $ 7796
18. CORPORATE TAXES
a) The recovery of (provision for) corporate taxes consists of:
Six Six . Twelve
Months Months . Months
ended ended . ended
July 31 January 31 P July 31
2003 2003 2002
Current $1,053 $ (2,647) $ (5,860)
Future 1,747 22,827 148,482
$ 2,800 $ 20,180 $ 42,622
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b} The company's effective income tax rate is determined as follows:

40

Six Six Twelve
Months Months Months
ended ended ended
July 31 January 31 July 31
2003 2003 2002
Basic federal and provincial tax rate 40.3% 40.3% 43.0%
Future incomeltaxes not recognized (20.2) - -
Loss on disposal and provisions, where tax
benefit notirecognized - 0.3 (7.8)
Future taxes due to reduction in tax rates - - (2.3)
Federal and provinciai capital taxes (0.4} (2.7) (1.8)
Other 4.7 (1.0) 0.5
15.0% 36.9% 31.6%

The “Other” category reflects the impact of the manufacturing and processing deduction, tax paid on equity
eamings, non-taxable dividends, non-controlling interest, investment tax credits and miscellaneous adjustments.

¢) Income taxes allocated to future years are
comprised of the following:
July 31 January 31

Classified in the consolidated financial statements as:

Current future tax liability $ - $ -
Long-term future tax liability 7,553 8,909

$7,553 $8,909

2003 2003
Future tax assets:
Non-capital ioss
carry-forwards $ 72,814 $ 66,783
Restructuring and
refinancing costs
not deducted for tax 15,688 15,177
Senior subordinated notes (9,068) (10,545)
Convertible subordinated notes
- debt component 6,798 8,227
Undepreciated capital cost )
in excess of net book value 124,747 120,336
Qther ) 12,545 19,758
Subtotal 223,524 219,736
Valuation allowance* {141,576) (138,630)
Total future tax assets $ 81948 $ 81,106

*The valuation allowance represents management’s best
estimate of the allowance necessary to reflect the future tax
assets at an amount that the company considers is likely to
be realized over a period not to exceed five years.

Classified in the consolidated financial statements as:

Current future tax asset $ 1,624 $ 782
Long-term future tax asset 80,324 80,324
$81,948 $81,106

Future tax liabilities:
Net book value in excess of

undepreciated capitat cost $12,687 $13,669
Reclamation costs not
deductible for tax (4,933) (4,955)
Other (201) 195
Total future/tax liabilities $ 7553 $ 8,909

d) AtJuly 31, 2003, the company has net capital loss
carry forwards of $3.8 million. These losses can be
carried forward indefinitely and applied against
taxable capital gains realized. The future tax benefits
of these losses have not been recognized in these
financial statements.

19.1L08S ON DISPOSALS

In the year ended July 31, 2002, the company disposed
of various assets and investments, receiving total cash
proceeds of $153.6 million and realizing a net loss of
$17.6 million, or $5.8 million after tax.

20.RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER
PROVISIONS

In the year ended July 31, 2002, the company recorded
a provision of $29.8 million as an extension of its
previous elevator consolidation program, and in an
effort to reduce costs and improve efficiency. The
company also recorded a provision of $24.6 million for
Comercializadora La Junta, S.A. de C.V. (CLJ),
representing management’s best estimate of the
impairment in the carrying value and the related costs
of its investment in CLJ. CUJ owns a port terminal in
Manzanillo, Colima, Mexico.

The total provision was $54.4 milfion, or $44.3 miltion
after tax.
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING

The company uses commodity futures contracts to
hedge the risk associated with commodity prices. In
addition, the company uses derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure to market risks
relating to interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. The company does not use commodity futures
contracts or derivative financial instruments for
speculative trading purposes.

In accordance with GAAP, derivative financial
instruments outstanding at period ends (forward foreign
exchange contracts and interest rates swaps) are
required to be disclosed. No interest rate swaps are in
existence at July 31, 2003 or January 31, 2003. Forward
foreign exchange contracts, none of which have terms
longer than three years, including the company’s
proportionate share of joint ventures, are as follows:

Sells
July 31, 2003
Notionai U.S. doliars $ 92,292
Canadian equivalent $ 136,641
Fair value $ 129,521
January 31, 2003
Notional U.S. dollars $ 74,202
Canadian equivalent $ 115,965
Fair value $ 113,088

a) Credit Risk

The company is exposed to credit risk from customers
in alf the business segments. In the Grain Handling and
Marketing segment, a significant amount is receivable
from the CWB (see note 4). The customer base in all
other segments is diverse which minimizes significant

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The following summarizes the company’s proportionate inte
expense eliminations:

concentration of credit risk. Credit risk is limited due to
the large number of customers in differing industries
and geographic areas.

The company is exposed to credit loss in the event of
non-performance by counterparties to the derivative
financial instruments but does not anticipate non-
perfofmance by these counterparties. All counterparties
are highly rated financial institutions.

b) Fair Value

The carrying value of long-term debt (see note 12) that
bears interest at variable rates approximates fair value.
The fair value of long-term debt that bears interest at
fixed rates is based on its quoted market price or on
discounted future cash flows using rates currently
available for debt of similar terms and maturities if the
quoted market price was not available.

The carrying value of other financial instruments, cash,
cash in trust, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness,
short-term borrowings, members’ demand loans and
shares and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities
or redeemable nature.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments
consisting of foreign exchange contracts, reflects the
estimated amounts that the company, its subsidiaries
and its proportionate share of the joint ventures would
receive or pay to settle the contracts at the reporting
date. However, this does not represent the total gain
or loss to the company, its subsidiaries or its
proportionate share of the joint ventures as the
hedged position is matched to certain of the related
assets or liabilities.

rest in joint ventures before inter-company revenue and

July 31 January 31
. 2003 2003
Current assets $ 91,832 $ 82,576
Long-term assets $ 61,575 $63,645
Current liabilities $63,963 $ 51,061
Long-term liabilities $ 29,715 $ 31,627
Six Six Twelve
Months Months Months
ended ended ended
July 31 January 31 July 3%
2003 2003 2003
Revenue $ 116,341 $ 70,613 $498,951:
Expenses $100,373 $ 69,664 $491,349
Net earnings $ 15,968 § 948 $ 7602
Cash from operating activities $ 41,450 $ 12,736 $ 14,182
Cash used in financing activities $ (24,376) $ (4,767) $ (3,443)
Cash (used in) from investing activities $ (4,956) $ 962 $ 5,708
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23, SEGMENTED INFORMATION ¢) Agri-food Processing

The company operated under four business segments Activities involve manufacturing and marketing

during the year, the principal activities of which are as of value-added products associated with oats and

follows: malt barley.

a) Grain Handling and Marketing d) Other
Activities consist of handling and marketing of grain Other activities primarily consist of hog production
including the collection of grain through the and marketing; the sale of feed for livestock,
company’s primary elevator system, shipping to pouitry and fish; and the assets held by the
inland or port terminals, cleaning of grain to meet Corporate division.
regulatory ispecifications and sales to domestic or The accounting policies of the segments are the
export markets. same as those described in the summary of

b) Agri-products accounting policies. The company accounts for inter-

segment sales at current market prices as if the sales
were to third parties.

Activities consist of sales of a variety of agri-products
including crop protection products, seed and seed
treatments, fertilizer and farm equipment.

Six Months ended July 31, 2003

2003 2003 2003
Total Inter-segment External
Sales ‘ Sales Sales Sales
Grain Handling and Marketing* o $283,737 $13,490 $270,247
Agri-products. 319,347 - 319,347
Agri-food Pro¢essing : 64,495 1,129 63,366

Other , : 45177 191 44,986
‘ ' " $712,756 $14,810 $ 697946

Six Months ended January 31, 2003 Twelve Months ended July 31, 2002
2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
Total - Inter-segment External Total Inter-segment External
Sales ‘ Sales Sales Sales Sales Sales Sales
Grain Handling and Marketing*  $530,392 $16919  $513,473  $ 1,015,597 $48207 $ 967390
Agri-products 123,198 - 123,198 435,938 - 435,938
Agrifood Pracessing 65,142 474 64,668 545,010 1,505 543,505
Other ; 30,460 601 29,859 107,797 950 106,847

$ 749,192 $ 17994 $731,198  $2,104,342 $50,662 $2,053,680
*Includes gnain sales and service revenue and Canadian Wheat Board tariffs.

- e Six Menths ended July 31, 2003
Segment Earnings . EBITDA _ Amorfization EBIT

Grain Handling and Marketing $ (6,393) $ 4,605 $(10,998)
Agri-products , 29,423 4,404 25,019
Agri-food Processing 8,926 2,492 6,434
Other ' (5,312) 1,072 (6,384)
Segment Results 26,644 12,573 14,071
Corporate Expenses ' (8,973) - {8,973)
Per Financial Statements $ 17671 $ 12,573 $ 5,098
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Six Months ended January 31, 2003

Segment Earnings EBITDA  Amortization EBIT
Grain Handling and Marketing $ 7169 $ 14,883 $ (7714)
Agri-products (5,926) 3,677 {9,603)
Agri-food Processing 6,327 2,542 3,785
Other (1,873) 4,438 (6,311)
Segment Results 5,697 25,540 (19,843)
Corporate Expenses (7,854) 253 (8,107)
Per Financial Statements $ (2,157) $25,793 $ (27,950)
Twelve Months ended July 31, 2002

Segment Earnings EBITDA  Amortization Provisions EBIT
Grain Handling and Marketing $ 27655 $ 32,961 $24,600 $ (29,906)
Agri-products 21,827 11,659 (7.818) 17,986
Agri-food Pracessing 35,376 15,111 28,991 (8,726)
Other 4,449 9,701 {3,567) (1,685)
Segment Results 89,307 69,432 42,206 (22,331)
Corporate Expenses (15,628) 1,505 29,760 (46,893)
Per Financial Statements $ 73,679 $ 70,937 $ 71,966 $ (69,224)

Six Six Twelve

Months Months Months

ended ended ended

July January July

Capital Expenditures 2003 2003 2002
Grain Handling and Marketing $ 642 $ 837 $ 4,061
Agri-products 649 565 1,785
Agri-food Processing 1,038 1,868 5,905
Other 97 87 638
Per Financial Statements $ 2,426 $ 3,357 $12,389
As at As at

July31  January 31

Assets 2003 2003
Grain Handling and Marketing $ 380,933 $ 434,683
Agri-products 166,762 160,574
Agri-food Processing 91,810 95,978
Other 144,500 151,498
Per Financiai Statements $ 784,005 $ 842,733
Six Six Twelve

Months Months Months

ended ended ended

July January July

Capital Expenditures 2003 2003 2002
Grain Handling and Marketing $ 77112 $ 145,354,  $309,539
Agri-products 1,171 827: 612
Agri-food Processing 54,516 54,317 211,999
Other 5,223 5,504 - 5,317
$138,022 $206,002, $ 527467
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24.COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES

AND GUARANTEES

a) The company, including its subsidiaries and its

proportionate share of joint ventures, has operating
leases relating primarily to railcars, buildings and
equipment. Future minimum lease payments having
initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year
at July 31, 2003 are as follows:

2004 $ 7,759

2005 $ 6,431
2006 $ 5,667
2007 $ 4,526

: 2008 $ 3,943
Subsequent years $22,936

b) The company and its subsidiaries are involved in

various ¢laims and litigation arising in the ordinary
course and conduct of their business. Although
such matters cannot be predicted with certainty,
management does not consider the company’s
exposure to such litigation to be material to these
consolidated financial statements.

¢) Banking letters of credit and simifar instruments -

see note 9.

d) Under the terms of an agreement, a financial
institution provides credit for the purchase of crop
inputs to customers of the company. Loans under
the program are secured by a general security
agreement granted by the customer covering the
crop and farm assets.

The company collects loan payments from producer
customers in trust for this financial institution and
forwards collections the next business day.

Under the agreement, the company has agreed

to reimburse loan losses in excess of a credit loss
reserve. At July 31, 2003, $135 million was
outstanding under the program of which $1.3
million represented past due amounts related

to the 2002 crop year. The company expects that
loan losses in excess of the credit loss reserve will
not be significant.

25. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
to conform with the financial statement presentation
adopted in the current year.




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SASKATCHEWAN WHEAT POOL'S STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

TSX GUIDELINES FOR

EFFECTIVE CORPORATE SASKATCHEWAN WHEAT POOUS GOVERNANCE PRACTICES Consistent
GOVERNANCE Guidelines
{1, The Board should explicitly In 2002, the Board revised its formal mandate which sets out its responsibilities including the Yes
assume responsibility for explicit assumption of responsibility for the stewardship of the corporation. In conjunction with a
the stewardship of the statement of authorization developed by the Board in 2001, the mandate identified the limits to the
carporation, and authority of management and the Board's expectations of management. In March 2003, the
specifically for: corporation completed a financial restructuring with its lenders and medium term noteholders. As
part of this restructuring four independent directors were mandated for the corporation and Board
governance and committee structures were refined.
1.1 Adoption of a strategic The Board is responsible for the establishment and periodic evaluation of the corporation’s strategic Yes
planning process and plan. A newly formed Strategic & Business Planning Committee of the Board is responsible for
approval of a strategic plan overseeing strategic planning, strategic initiatives and material transactions and for making
which takes into account, recommendations to the Board on such planning, initiatives and transactions. The Board annually
among other things, the approves the strategic plan, the five-year capital budget and the annual operating budget.
opportunities and risks of the
business;
1.2 ldentification of principal The Board ensures that systems are in place to monitor and manage risks related to physical assets,  Yes
risks and implementation of  exposure on commaodity, interest rate and foreign currency transactions, and environmental and
risk management systems; safety matters. A Risk Management Committee made up of senior management reports regutarly to
the Audit Committee of the Board and is responsible for communicating with the Board to enable
them to discharge their responsibility of identifying the Pool’s principal risks and ensuring the
implementation of apprapriate systems to manage those risks. With the assistance of its Audit
Committee, the Board also monitors the corporation’s internal and external controls and financial
reporting systems.
The Audit Committee of the Board requires the external auditor, internal auditor and management to
communicate to the Audit Committee any issues that significantly increase risk to the corporation.
1.3 Succession planning The Board is responsible for the selection, direction, evaluation and compensation of the Chief Executive Yes
including appointing, training  Officer (CEQ). The Board defines the CEQ’s duties, responsibilities and authority, and monitors
and monitoring senior performance. The Board is tasked to review the CEQ's recommendations on succession planning for
management; corporate management and to ratify the appointment of senior managers hired by the CEO.
1.4 Communications policy; The Board annually reviews and approves the corporation’s Disclosure Policy that governs all Yes
corporate communications including interaction with analysts and the public. The Pool’s Investor
Relations and Communications Division works closely with management, particularly the CEQ and
the Chief Financial Officer, who is the Pool’s Compliance Officer. Pursuant to the Pool’s Disclosure
Policy, the division is responsible for external and internal communications programs and for
administering the continuous disclosure program for the corporation. The corporation’s Disclosure
Committee monitors communications to ensure compliance with securities regulation respecting
selective disclosure,
1.5 Integrity of internal controls ~ The Audit Committee of the Board meets quarterly with external auditors, internal auditors and Yes
and management information  corporate management to assess the reliability and effectiveness of the corporation’s accounting
systems. systems and internal control systems and to review any significant control weaknesses. The Audit
Committee reports at least quarterly to the Board.
2.1 The majority of directors The Pool is incorporated under a private Act of the Saskatchewan Legislature and is organized Yes

should be unrelated as a co-operative. Class A shareholders, who must be farmers, elect delegates from provincial
{independent of management  sub-districts who, in turn, elect from their number, a director from that district. Prior to the financial
and free from any conflicting  restructuring of the corporation there were 12 directors elected in this fashion. Subsequent to the
interest) to the corporation;  financial restructuring, there are now four directors who are independent of both this election
process and the corporation. These four independent directors are elected by the delegates from a
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slate of candidates deveioped by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee and approved
by the Board. As mandated by the financial restructuring documents, a “Lead Director” is
recommended by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. The Board, as a whole, elect
from their ranks a President and Chairman of the Board, Lead Director of the Board (who acts as
Vice-Chairman) and one Vice-President of the Board. Board members are, therefore, all unrelated
because management is not involved in their sefection nor can management be appointed to the
Board. The delegate directors have a business relationship with the corporation because, as |
agricultural producers, they regularly do business with the corporation and its subsidiaries. Both a
business relationship and Class B ownership are required of delegates and delegate directors by the
corporation’s bylaws.

Pursuant to a conflict of interest policy adopted by the Board, any director who contracts with the
corporation other than in the ordinary course of their farming business or has an interest in a

transaction with the corporation that exceeds a certain dollar value, must treat the transaction as
material and disclose it to the Board. e

2.2

Disclosure of significant
shareholders (ability to
exercise the majority of votes
to elect the directors).

The Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Act, 1995 specifically prohibits an individual from holding more Yes
than one Class A voting share. In addition, the corporation’s bylaws stipulate that no individual or

group of individuals together can own more than 10 per cent of the issued and outstanding non-

voting Class B shares.

Marvin Wiens, President and Chairman of the Board, Douglas Kitchen, Lead Director of the“B'o'a‘rd, Yes

L]

3. Disclose for each director,
whether he or she is related  Thaddeus Trefiak, Vice-President of the Board, and Directors Ryan Anderson, Ferne Nielsen,
and how that conclusion was  Tom Cameron, Vic Bruce, Terry Baker, Allan Beblow, Herbert Pinder Jr., Gary Colter and
reached. Harold P. Milavsky are all unrelated.

The Board considers the elected officers unrelated because, although the President and Chairman
of the Board and Vice-President of the Board receive a salary from the corporation, the President
and Chairman of the Board, the Lead Director of the Board and the Vice-President of the Board are
elected annually by the Board and report directly to the Board. Management has no influence on
their selection, performance assessment or compensation. Alf directors are elected by delegates in
accordance with the provisions of the Act and bylaws of the corporation and are considered
unrelated because management is not involved in their selection. The directors’ only other
relationship with the corporation is as shareholders and/or as elected officers, and in the case of
delegate directors, through a business relationship as agricultural producers.

4,

4.1 Appointment of a committee  As a result of the financial restructuring of the corporation, a Nominating/Corporate Governance Partly
responsible for proposing new Committee was formed with @ mandate to recruit, assess and propose a slate of four independent
nominees to the Board and directors for Board approval and subsequent election by delegates. Because the remaining eight
assessing directors on an delegate directors are elected through a democratic process, a committee of the Board cannot
ongoing basis; nominate these directors.

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is also responsible for developing processes to
assess Board effectiveness and to consider the orientation and development needs of individual
directors and the Board as a whole.

§4.2 Committee exclusively The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is composed entirely of non-management, Yes

| composed of non- unrelated directors, two of whom are chosen from the slate of independent directors and two from

| management, unrelated the delegate directors. The Lead Director of the Board is the Chair of this committee.

f directors.

5. Implement a process for The Board assesses its effectiveness and the effectiveness of its committees annually. Each Board Yes
assessing the effectiveness of committee annually reviews its performance relative to its terms of reference and reports directly to
the Board, its committees the Board. The Board is currently developing a new process for the assessment of individual
and individual directors. directors which will be implemented in the coming year.

8.  Provide orientation and New directors participate in a directors’ orientation program and receive a directors’ handbook

education programs for new
directors.

. administering, subject to Board approval, the Board development program that includes both

containing information on director responsibilities, terms of reference for the Board and its
committees, and Board policies and procedures. Director responsibilities are reviewed annually by
the Board.

The Board’s Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for establishing and

general Board training activities and individual development activities. Development activities are
specifically identified for new directors in this program.




7. Consider the size of the As part of its annual review of its effectiveness, the Board considers its size. The Board reduced the Yes
Board, with a view to number of directors from 16 to 12 in April 2001 and its compaosition was altered in 2003 as a result
facilitating effective of the financial restructuring to include four independent directors and reduce the number of
decision-making. delegate directors correspondingly.

8. The Board should review The Board's Compensation Committee regularly reviews directors’ compensation in light of their Yes
directors’ compensation in responsibifities and risks and provides reports to the Board.
light of responsibility and risk. 4 comnensation Committee annually reviews the compensation policy and compensation levels

L for elected officers and makes recommendations based on thelr findings to the Board. o

9. Committees should be There are no management or related directors of the corporation. Yes
generally compased of
non-management directors,

a majority of whom are
unrelated.

10. The Board should expressty - The Nominating/Corporate Governance Commitiee is responsible for developing, subject to Board Yes |
assume responsibility for, or  approval, the corporation’s approach to governance issues and for preparing the corporation’s !
assign to a committee, the Statement of Governance Practices. |
general responsibility for the |
approach to corporate 4
governance issues including l
the corparation’s response to !

[ these guidelines. — - e - |

11. Define limits to management's The Board is responsible for the direction of management in accordance with statutory and Yes
responsibilities by developing  regulatory requirements, the bylaws and regulations of the corporation and the Board Mandate and
mandates for: Statement of Authority established by the Board.

*TheBoardiand pyguantto a formal job description, the CEQ is responsible to the Board for the management of the
* The Chief Executive Officer qinecs operations of the corporation. The Compensation Committee sets, and reviews annually for
and assess against Board approval, the CEO's goals and objectives as part of the performance assessment process.
established corporate )
objectives.

12. implement structures and As part of the financial restructuring, the Board now elects a “Lead Director” from the four Yes E
procedures to enable the independent directors mandated by the financial restructuring documents, The Lead Director of the |

| Board to function Board is not a member of management and is the Board’s primary liaison with management. The
independently of management Lead Director, in consultation with the President and Chairman of the Board, is responsible for
including appointment of a planning the agendas and meetings of the Board and ensuring appropriate information is provided.
non-management chair ora Alf regularty scheduled meetings include sessions without management present. The Lead Director ;
“lead director.” The chair or of the Board is responsible for communicating, as appropriate, with the CEO regarding any issues {
{ead director should have the  arising in these sessions. Additionally, the President and Chairman of the Board, Vice-President of |
responsibility to ensure that the Board, certain committees of the Board and the Board as a whole have the freedom to obtain (
the Board carries out its independent advice at the expense of the corporation when appropriate.
responsibilities effectively }
including the Board meeting ;
regularly without management
present. ;

13.

13.1 The Audit Committee of every  There are no management or related directors of the corporation. Pursuant to the financial Partly

Board of directors should be
composed only of unrefated
directors. All the members
should be financially literate
and at least one member
should have accounting or
related financial expertise.
The Board should establish
and define criteria for
financial literacy and
expertise;

restructuring dacuments, the Audit Committee is composed of four directors, two of whom are
independent directors. In recruiting and assessing candidates for the position of independent
director, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is cognizant of financial literacy tests
being proposed by the Canadian Securities Administrators. The Chair of the Audit Committee and
one other member are chartered accountants with requisite risk management expertise. It is the
corporation’s intent that delegate directors receive, where necessary, financial training sessions
designed to meet these emerging financial literacy requirements.
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‘13.2 Establish an Audit Committee  The roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are specifically defined in the Audit Committee  Yes

! with a specificaily defined Charter, which is reviewed and approved by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee and
! mandate; the Board annually. The Committee’s mandate includes, but is not limited to, ensuring that the

{ external auditors understand their accountability to the Board, assessing the performance and

) independence of the external auditors, approving the sefection of the internal Auditor, evatuating the
| internal audit plan and the results of the external and internal audits, reviewing and recommending
for approval the corporation's financial statements and management discussion and analysis, and
reviewing and evaluating critical areas of risk for the corporation. :

13.3 The Audit Committee should  Pursuant to its mandate, the Audit Committee holds sessions with the external and internal Yes

have direct communication auditors without management present at the end of every regularly scheduled meeting of the

channels with the internal Audit Committee.

and external auditors to

discuss and review specific

issues as appropriate;
(13.4 The Audit Committee duties  The Audit Committee is responsible to obtain reasonable assurance from management, the external Yes
! should include oversight auditor and the internal auditor that the corporation’s accounting systems and internal control E
’ responsibility for systems are reliable, effective and comply with autharities. i
! management reporting i
| onintemnal controls. |
14. implement a system to Individual directors may engage outside advisors at the corporation’s expense with the authorization Yes

enable individual directors to  of any one of the CEQ, the President and Chairman of the Board, the Lead Director, the

engage outside advisors at Executive/Management Committee, the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the Board. Additionally
the corporation’s expense the Board, Executive/Management Committee, the Audit Committee and the President and

subject to the approval of an  Chairman of the Board and Lead Director may independentiy retain outside advisors.

appropriate committee.
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SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR

SHARE TRANSFERS/LOST

CERTIFICATES

Please direct communications concerning share transfer
requirements and lost certificates to the company’s transfer
agent, CIBC Mellon Trust Company.

COMPANY REPDRTS

Those who would like to receive quarterly reports may return
the reply card accompanying this report or may contact the
company’s Investor Relations and Communications Division
at (306) 569-4859. Annual reports, quarterly reports and
press releases are also available on the company’s website
at www.swp.com or by calling the Investor Relations and
Communications Division. Additional information is available
without charge, upon request, to shareholders including
Saskatchewan Wheat Pool’s Annual Information Form and
Annual Filing of Reporting Issuer. Piease contact the Investor
Reiations and Communications Division.

DUFPLICATE 5AIL "GS

Multiple copies of the annual and quarterly reports may be
received by shareholders who own shares in more than one
account or by several shareholders living at the same
address. To eliminate multiple mailings, please contact your
financial advisor.

GR.UP RRS /4TQCZ0 SAVILES PLAN
Employees and Class A shareholders may direct inquiries on
these programs to Canada Life directly at 1-800-668-2648.

MEMIZEL LTAN PROGRAMS

Pool employees and Ciass A shareholders resident in
Saskatchewan may loan funds on a term or demand loan
basis to the Pool through its Member Loan Programs. For
more information, please contact the Member Programs
Department at 2625 Victoria Avenue, Regina, Saskatchewan
SAT 7T9 or call toll free in Canada 1-800-797-9920,

CAFPITAL STOCHK

The company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited
number of Class A voting shares and Class B non-voting
shares. Class A shares are held by farmer-members, are not
eligible for dividends, and have a $25 par value. Class B
shares participate in earnings and are traded publicly on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. An individual or entity may not own
more than 10% of the total number of issued Class B shares.
As at July 31, 2003, 71,658 Class A shares and 172.1
million Class B shares were issued and outstanding.

INFORMATION

TRANSFER AGENT

CIBC Mellon Trust Company

750 - 1 Lombard Place

Winnipeg, Manitoba R38 0X3
1-800-387-0825 Toll free in North America
email: inquiries@cibcmellon.com

CORPQORATE OFFICE
Saskatchewan Wheat Pool
2625 Victoria Avenue

Regina, Saskatchewan S4T 719
Telephone (306) 569-4411

Fax (306) 569-4708

LEGAL COUNSEL
Balfour Moss

Barristers and Solicitors
Regina, Saskatchewan

MacPherson Leslie & Tyerman
Barristers and Solicitors
Regina, Saskatchewan

AUDITZRS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Regina, Saskatchewan
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Foreword from the President

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool completed the most dramatic renewal in its
history in fiscal 2003. In the many years |'ve been a member, delegate
and director of the Pool, | have never been more proud of this company,
its values and, most importantly, the people who make us strong.

The strength and support of our people during this past year helped the
Pool prevail under some of the most challenging environmental condi-

tions any company could ever expect to
face. The commitment and profession-
alism of our employees helped us
maintain customer confidence. Our
Class A shareholders rrallied behind the
Pool and, through their elected dele-
gates, supported changes in the
governance structure that will benefit
all of the Pool’'s stakeholders. These
“commercial ambassadors” helped to
share key information and encourage
an understanding of the Pool's funda-
mental value to its customers,
investors and the communities in which
we operate.

Next year will mark the Pool’s 80th year
of operations. We've embarked on
significant changes in the past three

Marvin Wiens
President and Chairman of the Board

“We have become a

new organizatlon,
while maintaining
the core strengths
past.”

years and we will continue to transform ourselves in response to an ever-changing
environment. But we will never lose sight of that which makes us strong — our people and

our commitment to Prairie agriculture,

In many ways, the Pool today is a new company. You’'ll see more details on how we've
changed in the following pages and | invite you to take the time to get to know the Pool
again — today’s Pool - the new Pool.




Message from the CEO Mayo Schmidt
Chief Executive Officer

Fiscal 2003 was the most challenging in Saskatchewan Wheat Pool’'s 80-year history. However,
with that challenge came extraordinary opportunities for the company and its people to demon-
strate our commitment to customers and complete a renewal that will take the company into
the future as a strong and dominant player in western Canadian agriculture.

The consensual financial restructuring that we concluded with our banks and bondholders in
March 2003 is an accomplishment that few companies can claim. Not only did we successfully
negotiate a restructuring of $405 million in debt with two very disparate groups of debt-holders,
we maintained the confidence of our customers throughout this very volatile period. We did that
by being honest and open. We defined the risks - theirs and ours — and we worked with them
to help manage those risks.

Too often when a company is in financial trouble, its employees and customers are the last to
know. We did not want to be that kind of company. We firmly believed we would succeed where
others had failed. We also recognized that our
€€
employees and customers were critical to the long- Eh@ ?@@E hag taﬁiﬁﬁl

term success of any plan we would negotiate and were

key in maintaining the value of our enterprise for all SOITIC CXU‘&@K‘@QIH@;E?’

stakeholders. Communicating with these groups 9 :
therefore became one of our most important priorities St@ps ° W@ Ve bCﬁH derCt>

as we moved through the process. open and honest about
We are now a restructured company. For the first time our pOSiﬁOH. We've been

in my three years at the Pool, we can focus solely on
running the business. We are a new company. We have h&l’d"ﬂOSCd, W€ ’VC dOHC
a new governance structure, a new balance sheet and . .

some of the newest and best grain handling assets in the I‘lght tthgS Y’

Western Canada. We have a senior management team

that was in large part forged in the fire of the financial restructuring. And that team has heiped

to formulate and implement the company’s new strategic priorities.

Our priorities will guide our company as we implement our business strategies 1o return value 10
our many stakeholders. Our strategies are built around the opportunities and risks we see in
the industry. Perhaps most importantly, they are built to accommodate change. In the agricul-
tural industry, there are many factors outside of our control: weather, government regulations,
and international trade subsidies to name just a few. Our priority is to manage those factors
within our control to ensure a strong, viable operating base.




Message from the CEO

There has been enormous change in the agricultural environment over the past decade
and that level of change will continue to escalate as industry players reposition in an
intensely competitive, mature market. At the Pool, | believe we have a substantial advan-
tage in that where we were is where our competitors are now.

One of our priorities going forward is to optimize our footprint. We have identified our
core strengths and built a business model that allows us to focus our efforts on key
business operations in which we can be most competitive in capturing and maintaining
market share. We will continue to review our geographic representation and product line
offerings, with a view to building value based on our competitive advantages.

At the same time, we are proactively seeking strategic alliances that aliow us to
enhance existing operations and grow our business in a financially responsible manner.
Supply agreements, partnerships and joint ventures with other companies in our indus-
try can provide us with economic opportunities to capture synergy, share expertise and
minimize risk. We have employed this strategy successfully in the past several years,
constructing marketing agreements with Toepfer International, financing partnerships
with Farm Credit Canada and John Deere Credit and terminal handling agreements with
grain handling companies that have no port terminal capability.

We intend to take a lead role in driving continued consolidation and reducing the over-
capacity plaguing the grain handling industry right now. There is currently 25 per cent
more capacity in the system than is needed to handle even a bumper crop.This reduces
efficiency for all industry participants and impairs our ability to take full advantage of our
state-of-the-art grain handling network.

In April 2003, the Pool sold its Wilson Siding

QGWC’VC gone fmm 4 quasl- location to Parrish and Heimbecker, Limited
bﬂ l d d , (P&H). P&H had planned to buiid a new, com-

pu 1€ y trade COH]IP@LH} peting high throughput terminal at the same
and a quasi—c:@—@p@mtw@ o location, which would have added to the

excess capacity in that market. Instead, we

a CQmpan\_y that is der@H by were able to reach a deal whereby the Pool

secured P&H's portterminal volumes and

@C@H@HNC K@SUMS with a P&H obtained its grain handling facility. The

SU‘OHg UHdCT{'STEQLHdJ.IHg Of Wh@ Pool continues to serve our southern Alberta
customers from our Vulcan location and the

our customers ;M‘@’ hO‘W wWe industry is not further hampered by addi-
h . d d tional capacity.

must mecet tnelr needs an Another of our strategic priorities is opera-

what our role is in terms of tional excellence. Clearly this should be a

. e 5 priority for any company. It is particularly

SOCJI&JI ICSpOHS)leIhUCS. imperative that the Pool, operating in an envi-

ronment where there is little to differentiate
the many competitors, strives to provide the best service and the best price to our Joyal
customers, while building profitability. We have already reduced our operating costs by
$80 million over the past three years. We are efficient and we have the discipline to
adjust our business practices quickly as market conditions change. It is time to take the
next step.




Message from the CEO

We will continue to test our operating processes, management controls and reporting
systems. We will establish external benchmarks, setting quantitative goals and rigor-
ously tracking our performance against those goals.

The Pool’s pipeline business approach aliows us to do just that. We analyze the entire
revenue stream — from the producer through to the destination customer — and make
economic decisions based on the value of the whole system.

Our relationships with customers — both producers
and end-use customers — are also key priorities for
the Pool. With fewer and larger farms, increasingly
sophisticated farming practices and an ever-growing
list of cropping options, our producer customers’
needs have become extremely complex. It is impera-
tive we anticipate and respond to those needs to set
us apart from the multitude of competitors vying for . % , ”

bl A TR >
their business. =

The Pool is in an excellent position to maximize our producer relationships. We are the
only grain company in Western Canada with a communication network that spans three
Prairie provinces and touches more than 70,000 producers. Our customer contact
process has provided us with the market intelligence necessary to match their needs
with international demand. In the coming year, our country staff will receive specialized
training to identify and deliver complete, value-based customer solutions tailored to the
individual needs of the producer.

At the other end of the value chain are our destination customers. Meeting their specific
and differing needs is critical to earning the revenues further down the pipeline, partic-
ularly for export grains not marketed by the Canadian Wheat Board (CWB). With recent
downward pressure on the CWB's export program, we simply must mitigate this pres-
sure by placing an even greater emphasis on identifying and developing long-term
relationships with end users, including food processors, international trading companies
and others. We have the network and the expertise to provide the quality they demand
and the logistics they require to improve their market opportunities.

The Pool's destination customers demand commodities that meet very precise specifi-
cations. Qur emphasis on best practices, safety and quality assurance allows us to
deliver to those specifications. The Pool has earned an international reputation for
quality. In fiscal 2003, we won two of the three Quality First Awards presented each year
by the CWB to recognize the industry's top performers in accurately delivering to speci-
fications and volumes. It is the second consecutive year we have won these awards.

Our final, and most important, strategic priority is our people. Our employees are the key
to delivering on the other priorities we have set for ourselves. We have strength in our
management group with some of the best people in the industry. We intend to retain
these top performers and attract new leaders by ensuring the Pool is a vibrant, reward-
ing workplace. We will also recognize and reward our “stars,” those employees whose
commitment to the company is evident in superior performarice and delivery of meas-
urable results.




Message from the CEO

Our employees were a major factor in our successful restructuring. Even as some were
working day and night on the negotiations with the banks and bondholders, others were
working equally hard at maintaining our customer and supplier relationships and taking
care of the day-to-day business. Solid planning, analysis and execution were key to our
success. Everyone had a role and everyone knew what they had to do. It was teamwork
at its finest.

We also have an extremely capable and motivated Board of Directors. This past year was
a milestone for the Pool, in that its delegate representatives elected four independent,
non-member Directors for the first time in the Board's history. Not only did this change
enhance the company’s governance model, strengthening the Board's ability to provide
strategic direction for the company — particularly in matters of finance, trade and taw - it
also brought the company more in line with the Toronto Stock Exchange’s recommenda-
tions an governance.

In summary, fiscal 2003 was indeed a turning point. The amazing show of support we
received from producers as we traveled across the Prairies to explain the restructuring
proposal was an eye-opener for all of us. These people ~ our customers, members and
Prairie investors — recognized the value of the company to the western Canadian economy
and to the communities in which we operate. Canadian Business magazine also recog-
nized the Pool’s importance when it placed the company in the top 50 of its feature on
the Top 75 Canadian companies of ali time. It was an honor that gave all of us at the Pool
a sense of pride and accomplishment.

I am looking forward to the coming year - to focusing on operational excelience and on
maximizing our opportunities and striving to reach our potential. Our stakeholders have
been extremely patient, living through two and a half years of drought, not to mention the
organizational and financial restructurings that were necessary during this period. Our
work is now paying off. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 speaks to our actions. We gen-
erated net earnings of $15 million, the first pure earning since the final quarter of 1999.
We expect the recovery to continue.

This fall's crop is the best that we have seen in the past three years. While still only 85
per cent of the five-year average, the quality is much better and our export opportunities
are significantly better than in the recent past.

Our financial restructuring has set the foundation for future growth. Fiscal 2004 will be
a recovery year. While we won't experience our full potential this year, it is our expecta-
tion that with normal growing conditions in the spring of 2004, results will exceed the
previous year in each quarter of fiscal 2004. Cash flow will recover and we will work hard
to drive market share increases by focusing on our priorities.

We truly are a new company. We are focused on restoring value to our stakeholders.
While we will never forget our roots, it is clearly time to focus on the future. 1t is a new
day at the Pool and we are ready to meet that day on your behalf, with energy, enthusiasm
and a single-minded focus on excellence.

| *’%?@ A/W :
Mayo Schmidt




Sold our Wilson Siding facility to P&H to prevent the construction of
additional capacity

Secured three port terminal handling agreements to drive additienal
volumes to our wholly owned export port terminals in Vancouver and
Thunder Bay

Exited unprofitable product lines, enhanced supplier terms and
reduced net-owned agri-preducts inventory by 65% since 2001

In 2003, the Pool completed the final steps of its
comprehensive restructuring plan, clearing the path for
future success. To support this “new start” we have
identified four strategic priorities that will guide the
organization in the coming years and generate value for

Pool stakeholders.
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The Peol will continue to align its assets with
changing market conditions. Our goal is to
anticipate change and proactively adjust our
business processes so that we generate the
greatest economic value from our western
Canadian footprint.

Achleved aperating cost reductions of $17 miltion in fiscal 2003,
bringing the Pool’s total costs down by nearly $80 million since 2000
Generated net earmings of $15 million in fiscal 2003’s fourth quarter,
the first pure earnings since 1932

Maximized mutti-car loads, with 34% of fiscatl 2003 shipments
moving in unit trains; 74% in 50s and 100s

Our pipeline business model is designed to
generate value at each stage of the agri-
business process. We will test and refine
our processes at every stage and strengthen
our relationships with customers and
suppliers to create mutual value. We will
build confidence among our stakeholders
by benchmarking, targeting, tracking and
communicating our operational excellence
initiatives.

 CUSTENER SELUTIONS.

»

»

Imptemented innovative, low-cost, longer-term customer financing
through Farm Credit Canada and John Deere Credit

Launched Brassica juncea, a mustard-derived non-GMOQ canola that is
tolerant to drought

Established relationships to develop new marketing opportunities for
the Pool's Navigator durum varieties in offshore markets

Secured a number of contracts with focd processors and consumer
products companies throughout North America through Can-Cat Milling

i

Implemented guarierly marke! centre manager training as well as

daily and weeldy operational excellence/qualily assurance sessions

Epanded face-lo-face senior management-employee cemmunications

throughout Western Carada

Enhanced communization between head office and counlry staff

to ﬁwmvwe susiomer respensiveness, by eliminating & layer of
management in 2003

Enhanced the company’s corporate governance throvgh the addition

of four independent dizectors to the Board of Directors

The needs of western Canadian producers have
changed. The Pool will build on its customer
contact strategies by developing customized
producer profiles and new marketing strategies,
specific to the customers’ unique needs and
aligned with the company’s competitive strengths.

Our end-use customers will receive the same
commitment. We will build on our quality
assurance programs, customizing supply
agreements and Identity preservation programs
to solidify long-term relationships in the
international marketplace.

The knowledge and commitment of our people ~—~
is at the heart of the Pool’s success. We will
encourage leadership through empowerment,

training and retention initiatives that reward

our top performers. We will implement training
programs for front-line staff to help them

allocate resources based on the value that

can be realized from each customer and

coach them to deliver innovative, customer-

specific solutions.
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~ Senior Vice-President.
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MANITOBA

The Brandon AgPro facility
was the Pool’s first full-service
grain‘han’aling and farm supply
marketing centre in Manitoba. In
just four years, it has earned the
leading market share in its draw
area, attracting business from
well-established competitors.
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The Pool is a Prairie-based agri-business that connects
producers and their commodities with destination cus-
tomers around the world. Anchored by a state-of-the-art
grain handling and agri-products network that consists
of 43 high throughput grain terminals, 100 retail agri-
products locations and 11 seed cleaning and specialty
plants, the Pool also participates in agri-food process-
ing and livestock production.

At the Pool, we are striving to be the most efficient agri-
business in Western Canada, to create value for our
customers, our investors and the company itself. We
are well ahead of others in the industry in terms of
rationalizing our operations to suit the new competitive

Tandscape. And we’'ve made it a priority to continue to

assess all of our businesses to ensure we always have
the optimum operating structure. We'll do that in a
number of ways:

» Reviewing our geographic representation

»

Esté‘b‘l@hing strategic supply and
marketing agreements

Driving consalidation within the industry
Maximizing existing partnerships




Agriculture is a journey that starts with the producer and ends with the con-
sumer. And Saskatchewan Wheat Pool is there — adding value and creating
opportunity — every step of the way.

Our “pipeline” approach to business gives us insight into the needs of pro-
ducers and customers. We use that knowledge to increase the benefits of
our products and services, strengthening the relationships that will support
our long-term success.

The best way to understand the Pool pipeline is to see it in action. Follow
the path of CDC Kendall barley, one of the Pool’s proprietary seed varieties,
from the field to the consumer.

The Producer | After 20 years of producing Harrington barley, producers
wanted a new disease-resistant variety better suited to today’s farming
practices and the needs of malting companies around the world.

That requires the kind of product development and marketing support that
the Pool provides. Producers planting CDC Kendall sign production con-
tracts, giving them access to our proprietary seed variety and ensuring their
harvested crop will be handled and marketed by the Pool. Our relationships
with end-use customers provide built-in markets that offer premium prices
and early movement, additional benefits for producers.

Research and Development | The Pool’s research and development
team, in conjunction with the Crop Development Centre at the University of
Saskatchewan, works to develop and commercialize groundbreaking
premium products for the benefit of our producers and customers.

CDC Kendall received full registration in 1999 and is now included on the
Recommended Malting Barley Varieties List. It shows better disease resist-
ance and earlier maturity than older varieties, giving it greater likelihood of
achieving malt, rather than feed, grade.

Agri-products | Our 100 farm service centres across Western Canada
supply everything from seed and crop protection products to customized
spraying services and agronomic information.

CDC Kendall growers sign contracts with the Pool for a full range of products

that maximize the potential of their crops. This gives producers added confi-
dence that their barley will be malt quality.




Grain Handling | The Pool’s grain handling network increases efficiency
for producers and customers, reducing the time and cost of moving grains
from Western Canada to destinations around the world.

Our facilities are ideally suited to handling identity-preserved varieties like
CDC Kendall. Producers know we will protect the integrity of their crop and
customers recognize that we can deliver consistent, reliable quality.

Marketing | The Pool’s marketing initiatives and strategic alliances have
created new opportunities for producers and customers alike.

Production contracts for CDC Kendall allow us to market the crop to malting
companies in Canada and abroad, developing demand for this new variety.
Over the past three years, we have shipped as much as 35 per cent of CDC
Kendall overseas, as well as supplying domestic malting companies.

Transportation | The Pool plays an integral role in the transportation of
crop commodities from Western Canada to destinations around the world.

After CDC Kendall barley is delivered to the Pool, we manage the logistics of
shipping to malt houses stretching from Saskatchewan to China. From our
inland terminals to port facilities in Vancouver and Thunder Bay, the Pool has
the ability to get barley to its destination on time.

Vaiue-added Processing | The value of grain begins in a farmer’s
field but it’s truly captured when it reaches customers further along the
pipeline. Alliances and investments in processing companies, such as our
42-per-cent ownership of Prairie Malt, ensure a market for producers while
providing added value to the Pool.

Destination Customers | End-use customers look for suppliers who can
deliver consistent and high-quality grains — just as the Pool has done for
almost 80 years.

This is especially important for a new variety. While the properties of CDC
Kendall make it an attractive option for brewers, they need security of supply
to maintain their operations. The Pool’s production contracts and long
history and reputation for quality give destination customers confidence that
our products will meet their specifications every time.




= S O Il
Ge LMTT’ ine grain te market

10

RIS

The ability to get the right grain to the right place at the right time is critical to
success in today's competitive grain handling environment. The Pool has the
most advanced grain handling network in Western Canada, with 41 per cent of
the entire industry’s 100-car loading capacity.

This state-of-the-art network allows the Pool to leverage incentives offered by
the railways for multi-car loading and use them to attract producer deliveries,
giving the company the opportunity to increase market share. In combination
with the Pool’s port terminal facilities, it also allows us to capitalize on the rail-
ways’ desire for shorter turnaround times and enhanced railcar utilization.
With an aging fleet of grain cars and mindful of the potential cost of upgrading,
the railways are encouraging all shippers to maximize efficiencies where possi-
ble — and rewarding initiative in this area.

As part of its commitment to operational excellence, the Pool has responded
by working with the railways to arrange dedicated trains of 100 or more cars
that are loaded at one location, move to the export terminal as a unit, unload
at our port facility within 24 hours and then return to the next point of origin.
Locomotive power and crews for these “shuttle trains” are scheduled to deliver
maximum efficiency and reduced idle time.

While shuttle trains require advance planning on the part of both the Pool and

the railways, the payoff is a 50-per-cent or greater reduction in car cycle times
— the time it takes to move a car from the Prairies to port and back. The
average car cycle time in 2001-2002 was 17.5 days. In a pilot project con-
ducted by the Pool and CN in 2002, the Pool ran five shuttle trains
back-to-back, achieving an average cycle time of six and a half days.

This kind of efficiency keeps handling and transportation costs to a minimum,
which benefits everyone in the industry — from our valued producer customers
to our end-use customers. For the Pool, it means we can better manage
inventory in both our country elevator and port facilities, garner additional
premiums from the railways and share those savings with our customers.

I's a win-win formula that highlights the Pool’s ability to lead the grain
handling industry into the future.

“Qur focus is on max1m1zmg efficiencies and
working with our partners in the industry to
create value for the Pool,, its producers and its
end-use CUSTOMELS.” - Fran Malecha, senior vioePresicent, Grain Group
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Rewarding initiative: comparing the railways
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25-car units

CP Rail

CN

$0.50 per tonne

$0

80-car units

$4.00 per tonne

$4.00 per tonne

100-car units

$7.00 per tonne

$6.00 per tonne

Shutltle Trains 101

Shuttle trains are dedicated trains of 100 or more cars that are loaded at one
location, move to the export terminal as a unit, unioad at our port facility within

24 hours and then return to the next point of origin.

Shuttle trains can reduce the average car cycle time by more than half, reducing

# OF TOTAL
ngig,} PREMIUM* 'gggﬁé\f An additional $1.00 per tonne
Shuttles 4 $0.50 | $7.50 | Total shuttle = $7.00 per tonne
8 $1.00 $8.00
12 $1.50 $8.50
*per tonne

costs and enhancing efficiency for everyone in the system.
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A preprietary canole Gt cue the ‘musl®

The brilliant yellow of a canola crop stretching across the horizon under a
blue sky is a striking summer image, well known to those living on the
Canadian Prairies. The oil-producing plant is a popular crop grown mainly in
northern and central areas where there is less risk of heat and drought.
For producers in hotter, dryer southern areas where canola production has
been limited in the past, the Pool has developed new varieties to help
Prairie farmers improve their competitive position in a tough international
marketplace, while beating the challenges of Mother Nature.

The Pool’s Brassica juncea varieties, Arid and Amulet, were developed
through conventional (non-GMO) technology. These new varieties, created
from mustard through selective breeding techniques, are the result of
more than a decade of research and development by the Pool and its
research team building on earlier work by Agriculture and Agri-Food
Canada. Arid and Amulet received registration and final regulatory approval
in the spring of 2002. The new varieties are now extending oil-seed produc-
tion into southern regions as a growing number of producers sign contracts
to test the crop’s performance.

As proprietary seed, Arid and Amulet are sold exclusively by the Pool. The
contract arrangement with farmers allows the Pool to trace each part of
the production process, and ensures that sales are made to equal the
supply. We sell the seed and crop inputs and handle 100 per cent of the
harvest to ensure identity preservation. Brassica juncea varieties offer the
Pool and its customers new market potential, particularly as a non-GMO
canola that can be visually distinguished from other canola by its bright
yellow seed coat.

Developing new varieties is one more way that the Pool is meeting the
needs of its producer customers and helping them diversify and increase
productivity.

' T

« The Pool’s success m the seed busmess 1S
tied dlrectly to the productwn:y of Prame

far mCI' S Doug Wembender, Vlce Presxdent Agn products
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A Visible Difference

Brassica juncea’s distinctive
yellow seed coat makes it
easy to distinguish from
other varieties. That is
important with growing
sensitivity among producers
and buyers about GMO
crops. Brassica juncea was
developed using traditional
plant breeding techniques
and it shows.

» Canola-quality oil and meal with improved tolerance to heat
and drought

M

High yield potential, enhancing producer profits

~

» Seedling vigor, ensuring a strong start

~

> Attractive, low-fibre meal, giving it a strong competitive edge
Low in saturated fat, meeting strong demand for healthy foods

» Disease resistant, reducing producers’ risks

» Hardy seed pods, resulting in less shattering and loss of seed

» Resistant to lodging or falling over in winds or heavy rain

» Potential to reduce harvest costs with straight combining

While originally developed for producers in the dryer zones,
Brassica juncea varieties are attracting other growers — nation-
ally and internationally - because of their high yield potential.
Over the past 18 months, more growers have come on stream.
We are now working to improve these varieties to allow a
broader use of herbicide and produce even higher yields. As a
result, we see the potential for more canola acres blossoming
along the roadways of Canada and other countries in the future.

“This spring, | grew 200 acres of Arid and was very pleased with
a 21-bushel-per-acre yield. Being able to straight combine the
crop saved time and money, and there was less shattering of

the pods. | plan to go with Arid again in the coming year.”
- Dale Utek, Swift Current area farmer
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Saskatchewan Wheat Pool is committed to its employees, who are recoghized
as leaders in their industry. Education and training to improve customer
relations and operational excellence are top priorities at the Pool. Providing
safety training to staff, contract employees and our farmer customers is part
of the company’s pfan for continuous improvement.

Take for example the Pool’s anhydrous ammonia safety training program.
About 250 staff and contractors from our market centres are trained and
certified or re-certified each year on the safe handling of anhydrous ammonia,
emergency first aid technigues and other safety requirements.

Over the past year, the Pool has delivered local safety programs to about
4,000 Prairie farmers through its market centre staff. Anhydrous ammonia is
an efficient and widely used nitrogen fertilizer for crops. Due to its chemical
makeup, it requires careful storage and handling.

The Pool is the only farm supply retailer to have a dedicated emergency
response team available to respond to emergency situations involving
anhydrous ammonia. Part of the team's work is to train agri-product retailers,
police, ambulance and first responders about anhydrous ammonia.

Taken together, these Pool programs are helping to ensure the safety of our
employees, industry partners and the communities in which we operate, while
at the same time protecting the environment.

“Our employees—and their professionalism
—are a big reason customers trust the Pool.”

-Mayo Schmidt, CEO




A new governance mode]

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool’s corporate governance has undergone significant
change in the past year. We have enhanced board independence, aligned our
structure with regulatory and industry recommendations and increased the breadth
and depth of knowledge at the table.

Since its inception in 1924, the Pool has been governed by a board of directors
composed of elected farmer delegates under a governance mode! derived from co-
operative principles. Not only did this provide a democratic structure whereby
producers were represented, it also ensured that the people governing the Pool
had first-hand experience and knowledge of farming and the agricultural
environment in Western Canada.

Governance models have changed. Corporate governance has become a

« . .
Th@ COI’HblHaUOR Of paramount business issue. Today, corporations operate in an

agricultural and business

increasingly regulated, sophisticated and scrutinized environment.
Business expertise in the areas of law, finance and trade, to name a few,

CXpCI’ﬁS@ on our Board are now required knowledge for an effective board.

At the Pool, we recognized nearly three years ago that our governance

tOday creates a level of e required change. In 2000, we added two outside advisors who

confidence among ali

brought their business expertise to the Board. In the fall of 2002, we
sought approval from our delegates to petition the Saskatchewan

Of our stakeho}d@rs thﬁ\.t legislature to allow for the election of non-farmer directors to the Board.

in 2003, as a key component of the capital restructuring agreement

the Pool is committed between the Pool and its banks and bondholders, we further enhanced

to meeting their
unique needs.”

the model by adding four fully voting independent directors. We created
the position of Lead Director and revised our committee structure
and composition.

The synergy created by the four new directors working alongside the eight

- Marvin Wiens delegate directors has raised the level of debate at the board table and

Marvin Wiens
President
and Chairman of the Board

{ ¥

£
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=
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Douglas Kitchen
Vice-Chairman
and Lead Director

improved decision-making processes.

The position of Lead Director, established based on recent Toronto Stock Exchange
recommendations, is the Vice-Chair with responsibility for managing the Board,
acting as liaison between the Board and management, and leading the CEO
appraisal. The Chairman of the Board is a position held by a member-director,
reflecting the Board’s continued commitment to its Prairie roots.

Last, but certainly not least, the Board revised its committee structure. Key
committees, such as Strategic and Business Planning, Audit, Nominating/
Corporate Governance and Compensation, are chaired by independent directors
and include both independent and delegate directors. These changes move us
closer to regulatory guidelines for effective corporate governance, while preserving
the unique nature of our democratic structure.

We believe we have created a structure that lends itself to making the best
decisions for the benefit of all of our stakeholders. We are focused on providing
competent, responsible governance to support the Pool’s longevity and create
profitability for all stakeholders. In some ways, the changes we've made at the
board level mirror the restructuring of the corporation itself. We are a new entity
with new opportunities, building on the core strengths of our past.
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The Pool’s Board of Directors

Marvin Wiens 1 ¢-cuam, 7
President and Chairman of the Board

Marvin Wiens has 31 years' experience with Saskatchewan
Wheat Poo! and is currently serving his fourth consecutive
term as President and Chairman of the Board. Mr. Wiens
has guided the Pool’s Board through comprehensive finan-
cial and organizational restructuring. He is a graduate of
the Ivey Executive Program at the University of Western
Ontario and attended the School of Agriculture at the University of
Saskatchewan. Mr. Wiens' family operates a mixed grain farm near
Wymark, SK.

Douglas Kitchen 3°CHAIR, 4, 6°CHAIR, 7'CHAIR
Lead Director and Vice-Chairman

N Douglas Kitchen of Nashville, Tennessee, is Managing
{ \ Director of Rosenthal Collins, a major futures clearing and
“}L’

o3 ¥ execution firm and foreign exchange dealer in Chicago. He
N joined the Pool’s Board in July 2000 as an outside advisor.

Mr. Kitchen is Vice-Chairman of the Board of the National
Futures Association, the regulatory agency for the futures
industry in the United States. He is a graduate of Kansas State
University with specialties in agricuiture and business.

Thad Trefiak 1.4.5.6
Vice-President

Thad Trefiak has served on Saskatchewan Wheat Pool's
Board of Directors since 1999 and was elected Vice-
President in April 2001. As Vice-President, he represents
the Pool on the boards of several industry organizations
including the Canadian Federation of Agriculture and the
federal Agricuiture Minister’s National Safety Nets Advisory
Committee. He graduated at the top of his ctass from the University of
Saskatchewan's School of Agriculture in 1978 and completed the
Executive Development Program for Agri-Food Professionals at the
University of Guelph in 2002. Mr. Trefiak's family operates a purebred
beef and mixed grain farm near Leross, SK.

Ryan Anderson, Director 1.8

Ryan Anderson has been a member of Saskatchewan
Wheat Pool’s Board of Directors since 1998. He is a direc-
2 -7 tor for both the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives at the
‘% 7 University of Saskatchewan and the Flax Council of Canada.
‘A/_ His family operates a grain, oilseed and pulse crop farm

near Meifort, SK.

Terry Baker, Director 2,5

Terry Baker has served on Saskatchewan Wheat Pool's
Board of Directors since 2001. He is a member of the
Saskatchewan Beef Marketing Deductions Board and
¥ o Chairman of Denzil Credit Union Ltd. He holds a civil engi-
% neering degree from the University of Saskatchewan. His
h family operates a mixed farm near Denzil, SK.

Committees:

1 Agriculture

2 Audit

3 Compensation

4 Executive/Management

5 Member Relations/Communications
& Nominating/Corporate Governance
7 Strategic and Business Planning
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Allan Beblow, Director 1.2

Allan Beblow has served on Saskatchewan Wheat Pool’s
Board of Directors since March 2002. He operates an
insurance and investment services business and is a
member of the Cornerstone Credit Union and the Yorkton
Co-operative Association. Mr. Beblow, a graduate of the

- University of Calgary, is a member of Advocis, the Financial
Advisors Association of Canada. His family operates a livestock and
grain farm near Yorkton, SK.

Vic Bruce, Director 1°CHAR, 3

Vic Bruce has served on Saskatchewan Wheat Pool's
Board of Directors since the falt of 2002. He has served on
various boards including the Farm Land Security Board. Mr.
Bruce is a graduate of the University of Calgary. His family
operates a farm specializing in pedigree seed production
near Tuxford, SK.

Tom Cameron, Director 1.8

Tom Cameron has served on Saskatchewan Wheat Pool’s
Board of Directors since 2001. He is a graduate of the
University of Regina and has extensive experience as an
; educator and social worker. His family operates a grain
¢ . farm near Carievale, SK.

Gary Colter, Director 2'CHAIR, 7

Gary Colter is President of CRS Inc., a corporate restructur-
ing and strategy management consulting firm based in
Toronto. Prior to forming CRS, he had a distinguished
34-year career with KPMG including 11 years as a
Vice-Chairman of KPMG Canada and two years as
Managing Partner, Global Financial Advisory Services for
KPMG International. Mr. Colter is aiso a director of CIBC and
Owens-lllinois, Inc. He is a graduate of the Ivey School of Business at
the University of Western Ontario.

Harold P. Milavsky, Director 2.6

Harold P. Milavsky is Chairman and Director of Quantico
Capital Corporation and a former chairman and CEO
of Trizec Corporation. He has served on numerous public
and private boards in the energy, real estate and financial
sectors. Mr. Milavsky is a graduate of the College
of Commerce at the University of Saskatchewan and is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Saskatchewan
and Alberta. He has received honorary doctorates from the universities
of Calgary and Saskatchewan. Mr. Milavsky resides in Calgary, AB.

Ferne Nielsen, Director 1,3, 57CHAIR

Ferne Nielsen is a member of the Farm Land Security
Board. She was elected to the Pool's Board in 2000.
Ms. Nielsen is the Pool's representative to the Canadian
Co-operative Association and the Pool Insurance Company.
She has served as a director of the Saskatchewan
Crop Insurance Corporation and the Saskatchewan
Opportunities Corporation. Her family operates a mixed farm near
Turtleford, SK.

Herb Pinder Jr., Director 3,4.5,7

Herb Pinder is President of the Goal Group of Companies, a
Saskatchewan-based management, investment and sports
representation business. He is the former president of
Pinders Drugs and is an experienced director, having served
on the boards of public and private businesses, as well as
Crown corporations and non-profit organizations. A non-prac-
tising lawyer, Mr. Pinder holds an MBA from Harvard Business School.
He lives in Saskatoon, SK.




Senior Officers of the company

Mayo M. Schmidt
Chief Executive Officer

Wayne Cheeseman
Chief Financial Officer

Francis J. Malecha
Senior Vice-President,
Grain Group

Doug Weinbender
Vice-President,
Agri-Products

Karl J. Gerrand
Vice-President, Saskatchewan Wheat Pool
and President, Can-Oat Milling Inc.

Mark Milne
Chief Operating Officer,
Heartland Pork Management Services Limited

E. Richard Wansbutter
Vice-President,
Commercial Relations

Ray Dean

Vice-President,

Democratic and Legal Services

and General Counsel/Corporate Secretary

Lyn L. Kristoff
Vice-President,
Finance and Corporate Controller

Paula Duguid
Vice-President,
Business Planning and Development

David Reinboth
Vice-President,
Human Resources

Colleen Vancha
Vice-President,
Investor Relations and Communications

Grant P. Theaker
Treasurer

INVESTOR RELATIONS
AND COMMUNICATIONS

INQUIRIES

Colleen Vancha, Vice-President,
Investor Relations and Communications
Telephone (306) 569-4525

e-mail investor@swp.com

Visit us at www.swp.com

Saskatchewan Wheat Pool
2625 Victoria Avenue
Regina, Saskatchewan S4T 779

bw Thve Lsven:
NAVIGATOR

Prairie farmers needed a durum
with increased glu{en strength to
compéte in premium pasta
| markets around the world.
[ The Pool responded by working
with Agriculture and Agri-Food
' Canada to_develop AC Navigatorﬁ;
' @ premium quality, higheryielding
durum variety with better disease
resistance and shorter, stronger
straw to prevent lodging.
I AC Navigator is available
exclusively from the Pool.
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AFFIDAVIT OF MAILING

CANADA | ) IN THE MATTER OF IR |
PROVINCE OF SASKATCHEWAN ) Saskatchewan Wheat Pool

I, Colleen Vancha, of Regina, Saskatchewan, DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE THAT:

l. I am the Vice-President of Investor Relations and Communications for the Saskatchewan
Wheat Pool and as such have personal knowledge of the matters herein declared.

2. I did on the 20th day of November, 2003, caused to be mailed to all registered holders of
Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Class “B” Non-Voting Shares, who were shareholders of record as of
the close of business on November 5, 2003 and to all non-registered shareholders of the
Corporation as of close of business on November 5, 2003 pursuant to the guidelines of National
Instrument 54-101:

a) the Notice of the Saskatchewan Wheal Pool Annual Meeting of the holders of
Class “B” Non-Voting Shares

b) the Annual Report of the Corporation, which mcluded the financial statements
and the auditor’s report for the Corporation’s fiscal years ended July 31, 2003 and
July 31, 2002, and

) the Interim Report Reply Card.

And I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing it to be true and knowing that it is
of the same force and effect as if made under oath and by virtue of “The Canadian Evidence
Act”.

o] d

DECLARED BEFORE ME at Regina \ C %«fk C//\e

Saskatchewan, this 21st day of November, 2003. Colleen Vancha,
Vice-President, Investor

Q@éy@ @/ Relations & Communications
£ 7 AN

Debra Roth
Notary Public

My Appu ntmant
expires May
31, 2003




November 21, 2003

The Saskatchewan Wheat Pool hereby files its Affidavit of Mailing for the fiscal year
ended July 31, 2003.

Sincerely,

“Colleen Vancha”

Colleen Vancha, Vice-President
Investor Relations & Communications



